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advantage of market  opportunities as they 
arise.  We seek profitable growth in 
all business cycles and strive to illustrate our 
success in a transparent manner.
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POLIS Immobilien AG is a real  

estate company that actively 

manages its portfolio and has a clearly defined strategy, many years of experience and a sound 

financial footing. The foundation of our earnings power is a portfolio of quality properties  

with stable cash flows. The high degree of investment security of these »Core« properties  

derives from their good central locations in the most important German business centers, their 

high technical standards and a strong diversification in the composition of tenants. The know-

how we have acquired over many years of actively managing such properties allows us to  

successfully carry out modernization projects. We substantially increase the value of our »Core« 

and »Value Added« properties and realize these gains within the scope of a moderate buy-

and-sell approach.

Successful business model

n    Refurbishment
n    Reconstruction

VALUE ADDED PROPERTIES

n    �High modernization requirements
n    Low occupancy rates

BUY >>>>

Increase  

property  

values

Capitalize 

on gains  in  

valuation

Achieve

stable  

cash f lows

BUY >>>>

CORE PROPERTIES

n    Modern facilities
n    High occupancy rates

n    Change in tenant structure
n    Increase in occupancy rates
n    Modernization
n    Repositioning

n    �Gains in value  

generated by continual  

improvements over  

the mid- to long-term

Buy & SELL



focused Since POLIS was founded in 1998, it 
has focused as a specialist in modern-

izing and managing properties on one market segment: of-
fice buildings in prime central locations in the leading German  
cities. We have the expertise to acquire and manage proper-
ties with a clear potential for gains in value, increases in rent 
or stable cash flows.

profitable The objective of our work is  
to achieve long-term profitable 

growth by actively managing properties in order to increase 
the value of the Company and to ensure an attractive rate of 
return for our shareholders while maintaining moderate risk 
levels.

transparent For POLIS, managing a com- 
pany for the purpose of 

maximizing long-term value and providing a high degree of 
transparency are two inseparable aspects. We communicate 
what we are doing, what we want to achieve and the degree 
to which we meet our targets. All investment properties in-
cluding their key valuation determinants are presented on 
page 11 of this report and on the POLIS website (www.polis.
de). 
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We asked the children of our  
employees to show us how they see 
the office building of the future.  
Some of the drawings submitted  
are printed in this Annual Report.

Luna Gilly, age 10



Results in € thousand 2008 2007

Rental revenues 14,993 9,788

EBIT 10,421 13,346

EBT 1,157 10,662

Group net profit 1,144 9,043

Cash flow from current business operations 8,862 5,690

Funds from operations (FFO)1 2,996 2,381

 
Balance sheet in € thousand 31 Dec. 2008 31 Dec. 2007

Non-current liabilities 278,589 248,621

Current liabilities 32,808 23,403

Equity 153,085 151,939

Total assets 311,397 272,024

Equity ratio in % 49% 56%

Loan to value2 52% 39%

 

Share

Security identification code/ISIN 691330/DE0006913304

2008 high (Xetra) € 11.19

2008 low (Xetra) € 8.00

Closing price on 30.12.2008 (Xetra) € 9.50

 

Net asset value of POLIS (€ thousand)3 153,459 152,422

Shares (no.) 11,051,000 11,051,000

Net asset value per share (€)3 13.89 13.79

 

Key financial data of POLIS Immobilien AG

1	� Funds from operations = EBIT �+/- Income from the revaluation of properties +/- Income from the sale of properties  
+/- Financial results + Income from minority interests - Paid taxes 

2	 Ratio of loan liabilities to the value of the properties
3	� Net asset value (NAV): Equity plus deferred tax liabilities less deferred tax assets



Portfolio by location    |     source: appraisal by FERI as at 31 Dec. 2008

Dortmund   

1 property 
€ 5,170 thousand 
2,800 m2

Dusseldorf 

7 properties 
€ 50,760 thousand 
21,800 m2

Cologne 

6 properties 
€ 57,320 thousand 
30,200 m2

Mainz 

2 properties 
€ 7,050 thousand 
4,600 m2

Mannheim 

1 property 
€ 2,960 thousand 
2,000 m2

Hamburg   

4 properties 
€ 35,980 thousand 
16,700 m2

Hanover 

2 properties 
€ 8,010 thousand 
6,200 m2

Berlin 

3 properties 
€ 42,910 thousand 
16,000 m2

Kassel 

1 property 
€ 2,850 thousand 
2,200 m2

Frankfurt am Main 

1 property 
€ 11,110 thousand 
3,500 m2

Stuttgart 

3 properties 
€ 43,270 thousand 
22,100 m2

Munich 

1 property 
€ 9,760 thousand 
3,200 m2

Portfolio by use    |    Basis: m2

Sources of rental revenue – sectors    |    in %

Services	 11.6%
Insurance	 13.5%
 

Banks	 17.9%

Retail	 9.1%
Accounting/Tax advisory	 8.4%
Health care	 5.5%
Media and advertising	 4.3%
Restaurants	 4.2%
Associations	 4.1%
Logistics	 3.7%
Other	 17.8%

Office  116,400 
89%

Residential  3,220 
2%

Retail  11,890 
9%



Dear Shareholders, Ladies and Gentlemen, The turbulence on the 

money and capital markets is increasingly affecting the real economy, 

and Germany as a nation highly dependent on exports is now expe-

riencing a recession after five years of growth. While employment levels and the demand on the rental market 

remain high for the time being, many business climate indices und GDP growth trends suggest a difficult market 

environment ahead. The money and capital markets currently lack the key elements that are indispensable to any 

functioning economy: trust and confidence. Lenders and investors are unsettled. 

POLIS with its focus on quality properties in attractive central locations and its sound capital structure is well 

prepared for a weakening economy. Our equity ratio of 49% (loan to value: 52%) provides us with a strong margin 

of safety with respect to possible operational and financial risks. Furthermore, we deliberately chose early last 

year to slow down the rate of expansion of our portfolio. At the same time, we were able to sell at a profit two 

properties worth a total of € 35 million in 2008. As a result of our developing the portfolio cautiously and selling 

individual properties, we have retained the flexibility to acquire further properties while maintaining an appropri-

ate balance between risk and return.

Regarding financing, we significantly extended the maturities of our liabilities to banks and converted a total of  

€ 65 million in current bank loans to non-current bank loans. Only three bank loans totaling € 7.5 million are 

due in 2009. These can either be extended or repaid by means of existing credit facilities. Therefore, we are in a 

position to assure our shareholders, lenders and business partners that POLIS is on a very solid footing in terms 

of its operations and finances.

The shareholder structure of POLIS with several financially strong institutional 

investors provides us with additional stability. In 2008, Mann Immobilien-

Verwaltung AG increased its stake in POLIS within the context of a mandatory takeover offer and now holds a 

majority share of approximately 53%. We welcome the increased commitment of Mann Immobilien-Verwaltung 

AG to our Company. The visible support by the financially strong major shareholder strengthens our Company 

and reinforces our strategy. The Mann Group has consistently supported our concept and has fostered our growth 

since before our initial public offering by investing substantial sums.

The past financial year, the first complete financial year after our initial public offering, was very satisfactory 

in operational terms. We succeeded in increasing rental revenues by 53% to about € 15 million, and net rental 

income increased by 49% to € 12.7 million. We let around 15,300 m² of office space. The sale of two investment 

properties earned us profits of around € 2.4 million.
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Letter from the  
Board of Management

Stability

2008



03Letter from the Board of Management

Dr. Matthias von Bodecker
Born 1964, Economist, CFO,  

Member of the POLIS Board of Management  

since 2001

Dr. Alan Cadmus
Born 1955, Lawyer, Founding shareholder, CEO, 

Member of the POLIS Board of Management 

since 1998

Photographed from the roof of the POLIS office building at Potsdamer Straße 58 in Berlin
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Unfortunately, this trend in business operations was not reflected in our income from the revaluation of our 

investment properties. The income from the revaluation of investment properties was negative, at € 1.9 mil-

lion, considerably lower than in the previous year (€ 8.8 million). In relation to the investment volume as of  

31 December 2008 of around € 280 million, this represents a change in the market value of only 0.7%, a figure we 

consider comparatively insignificant in view of the current financial and economic crisis. In addition, we incurred 

valuation losses (non-cash) from hedging instruments in the amount of € 2.5 million as a result of the strong fall in 

interest rates at the end of the year, which will reduce our interest expenses in coming years. Hedging the interest 

rate risk is one of the principles we apply in order to avoid inappropriate risk levels.

In financial year 2009, we will focus our activities on further increasing the occupancy rate 

of our properties and continue with modernizing promising properties in our portfolio. In 

addition, we will monitor and control our administrative expenses even more stringently. We assume that oppor-

tunities for acquiring further properties will arise in the course of the current financial year that we will examine. 

Whether this will lead to an expansion of our portfolio remains to be seen. Moreover, we will also review potential, 

lucrative options for selling properties. We are proceeding on the assumption that our rental revenues will remain 

stable in 2009 despite the planned revitalization measures and the resulting vacancies and despite the sales that 

have taken place in the mean time. For financial year 2010, we intend to increase our rental revenues to around 

€ 18 million. 

We will more than double our investments in the modernization of high-quality properties in attractive locations 

in order to contribute to the sustainable growth of POLIS. After expanding the impressive building on the Rhine 

at »Konrad-Adenauer-Ufer 41–45« by adding a full floor and a terraced top floor, it will be comprehensively re-

furbished and equipped with modern technical facilities. We will also convert the building at »Domstrasse 10« in 

Hamburg and the »Quartier Buechsenstrasse« in Stuttgart into modern, technically well-equipped and economical 

office buildings. In our modernization projects, we endeavor to use environmentally sustainable building materi-

als and procedures, install modern thermal insulation, and use geothermal heating and cooling of buildings in 

order to achieve a sustainable increase in the values of our properties.

Despite the crisis in financial markets, the market for acquiring and managing office buildings in Germany pro-

vides major growth opportunities for specialized property companies that manage their own portfolio. Our office 

buildings are situated in locations where people have been working and living for generations, throughout all  

economic cycles. During its existence now spanning more than ten years, POLIS’ proven business model has 

already allowed it to master challenging economic situations, and we are confident that we will continue to suc-

ceed in the market in the future. 

Berlin, February 2009

POLIS Immobilien AG 

The Board of Management

 

Dr. Alan Cadmus	 Dr. Matthias von Bodecker

2009



05Report of the Supervisory Board

During the year under review, the Supervisory Board fulfilled its 
responsibilities under statutory regulations, the articles of asso-
ciation and the by-laws. We regularly advised and monitored the 
Board of Management in matters relating to the management of 
the Company. The Supervisory Board was directly involved in 
all major decisions affecting the Company. The Board of Man-
agement regularly informed the Supervisory Board verbally as 
well as in writing about the situation and development of the 
Company. In this context, the Supervisory Board discussed fun-
damental issues with the Board of Management that concern 
the Company’s business and corporate policies, its corporate 
strategy, its financial development and earnings position as well 
as matters pertaining to transactions that are important to the 
Company. The Supervisory Board approved the draft resolutions 
submitted by the Board of Management after thorough review 
and discussion. 

I regularly discussed and coordinated all issues and questions 
of key importance with the Board of Management, also outside 
of meetings.

Supervisory Board meetings and resolutions
In the period under review, the Supervisory Board held five 
meetings in which the members of the Board of Management 
participated. One further meeting was held over the telephone 
to discuss the changing situation on the financial and capital 
markets.

In the course of these meetings, the Board of Management in-
formed the Supervisory Board in detail and in a timely manner 
in particular of the Company’s strategy, plans, the economic 
situation and development and consulted with the Supervisory 
Board in this context. The Supervisory Board also adopted reso-
lutions in writing, in particular regarding acquisitions of prop-
erties and the sale of two properties. All matters that are sub-

ject to the Supervisory Board’s decision were determined after 
diligent review and discussion in the meetings and to the extent 
required also on the basis of written draft resolutions prepared 
prior to the meetings. Important issues in financial year 2008 
concerned the changes in the economic situation as a result of 
the international financial and economic crisis and the resulting 
consequences for the strategy and the business model of POLIS 
also with respect to the acquisition of further properties.  

Election of Supervisory Board members
The conclusion of the General Shareholders’ Meeting on 4 July 
2008 marked the end of the terms of office of all Supervisory 
Board members so that new Supervisory Board elections were 
required pursuant to the articles of association and the German 
Stock Corporation Act. The following members were nominated 
and elected by the General Shareholders’ Meeting for the next 
four years:

–	 Carl-Matthias von der Recke, consultant, Frankfurt a. M.

–	� Klaus R. Müller, Mann Immobilien-Verwaltung AG,  
Karlsruhe

–	� Arnoldus Brouns, Bouwfonds Asset Management,  
Hoevelaken, the Netherlands 

–	� Jürgen von Wendorff, HANNOVER Finanz GmbH, Hanover

–	� Ralf Schmechel, Mann Management GmbH, Karlsruhe

–	� Benn Stein, CT legal Stein und Partner, Hamburg

I wish to thank Hans Fehn, who as deputy chairman of the  
Supervisory Board has supported POLIS Immobilien AG since  
the time it was founded, for his very close and constructive, 
long-term cooperation.

Dear Shareholders,

Report of the Supervisory Board



Supervisory Board chair and personnel committee
At the Supervisory Board meeting on 4 July 2008, Mr. Carl- 
Matthias von der Recke was re-elected chairperson of the Super-
visory Board, and Mr. Klaus Müller was elected deputy chairper-
son; the personnel committee was re-constituted and consists 
of Mr. Carl-Matthias von der Recke (chairperson), Mr. Arnoldus 
Brouns and Mr. Klaus Müller. The personnel committee met four 
times in total, during which its main focus was on preparing a 
longer-term, variable compensation plan, which was approved 
by the General Shareholders’ Meeting on 4 July 2008.

Corporate governance
The Company’s Board of Management and its Supervisory Board 
identify with the objectives of the German Corporate Govern-
ance Code to promote responsible, transparent corporate man-
agement and supervision aimed at increasing the long-term 
value of the Company. After the reporting date, the Board of 
Management and the Supervisory Board will issue a declaration 
of conformity in March 2009 in accordance with Section 161 
AktG (Aktiengesetz (German Stock Corporation Act)), which has 
been made available for the long-term to shareholders on the 
Company’s website. POLIS Immobilien AG has largely observed 
the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance 
Code as amended. 

A detailed report on the level and structure of the compensation 
of the Supervisory Board and the Board of Management is con-
tained in the Company’s group management report.

Mandatory takeover offer by Mann Immobilien- 
Verwaltung AG  
In August 2008, Mann Immobilien-Verwaltung AG increased its 
share in POLIS to more than 30% and was obliged as a result to 
submit a mandatory takeover offer to the remaining sharehold-
ers. The mandatory takeover offer was published on 15 Sep-
tember 2008. In the extraordinary meeting on 18 September 
2008, the situation was discussed in detail between the Board 
of Management and the Supervisory Board, and the visible sup-
port offered by the Company’s major shareholder was greatly 
appreciated. On 24 September 2008, the Board of Manage-
ment and the Supervisory Board issued a joint statement on the  
basis of an outline prepared at the Supervisory Board meeting on  
18 September 2008. 

By the time the acceptance period expired on 13 October 2008, 
the mandatory takeover offer had been accepted with respect 
to approximately 20% of the shares. Mann Immobilien-Verwal-
tung AG currently holds approximately 53.20% of the shares in  
POLIS.

Annual and consolidated financial statements for 2008
The auditor appointed by the General Shareholders’ Meeting 
– KPMG Deutsche Treuhand-Gesellschaft Aktiengesellschaft 
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft (Berlin) – has audited the an-
nual financial statements and the management report of POLIS 
Immobilien AG as of 31 December 2008 as well as the consoli-
dated financial statements and the group management report 
as of 31 December 2008 and has issued an unqualified audit 
certificate (uneingeschränkter Bestätigungsvermerk). The consol-
idated financial statements and the group management report 
were prepared in accordance with Section 315 a HGB (Handels
gesetzbuch (German Commercial Code)) on the basis of the In-
ternational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as applicable 
in the EU. The auditors conducted the audit in accordance with 
the generally accepted German standards for the audit of finan-
cial statements issued by IDW (Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer in  
Deutschland e.V.). The audit reports prepared by KPMG were 
available to all members of the Supervisory Board and were 
discussed in detail in the relevant Supervisory Board meeting 
on 3 March 2009 in the presence of the auditor, who present-
ed the key results of his audit. During this meeting, the Board 
of Management explained the annual financial statements of  
POLIS Immobilien AG and of the Group as well as the risk man-
agement system. We agree with the results of the audit and have 
determined on the basis of our own review that no objections 
exist. The Supervisory Board has accepted the financial state-
ments prepared by the Board of Management, thereby formally 
approving them. The Supervisory Board adopts the proposal by 
the Board of Management to offset against capital reserves the 
net accumulated losses of POLIS Immobilien AG determined in 
accordance with HGB. 

The Supervisory Board wishes to thank the Board of Manage-
ment and the employees of POLIS Immobilien AG for their work 
during the past financial year. They have worked successfully to 
secure the further growth of the Company and manage the port-
folio also in difficult times and have taken all possible precau-
tions in order to meet future challenges and continue to be in a 
position to take advantage of opportunities. 

On behalf of the Supervisory Board

Carl-Matthias von der Recke 
Chairperson 

Berlin, 10 March 2009

06 Report of the Supervisory Board



07The POLIS Share

Share data for 2008

ISIN DE0006913304

Security identification code (WKN) 691330

Reuters/Bloomberg symbol PQLG.DE/PQL GR

Closing price 2008 € 9.50

Number of shares 11.05 million

Market capitalization € 105 million

Market segment Prime Standard

Designated sponsor UniCredit Markets & Investment Banking

Research coverage UniCredit Markets & Investment Banking,  

Viscardi Securities AG, HSH Nordbank

52 week high € 11.19

52 week low € 8.00

Average daily trading volume, € € 29 thousand

Average daily trading volume 3,112 shares

Earnings per share € 0.10

NAV per share € 13.89

Free float as defined by Deutsche Börse 31.7%

Market environment in 2008 – development  
of the market for property stocks
Stock markets around the world responded to the financial and 
economic crisis with increased volatility and share price ad-
justments. After five straight years of increasing share prices, 
the DAX 30 index suffered a serious decline of around 40% in 
the year under review. After 2002, this was the second worst 
result in its entire history. The decline in German property 

stocks in 2008 was even greater when measured against the 
DAXsubsector Real Estate Price Index, reaching approximately  
65%. Some German property companies lost 80% of their mar-
ket value and traded at a discount of up to 80% relative to their 
net asset value. The POLIS share price was not affected to this 
extent; it achieved comparatively stable results, trading at a loss 
of around 8% in relation to the closing quotation of the previous 
year.  

The POLIS Share



The POLIS share is listed in the Regulated Market of the Frank-
furt Stock Exchange. It satisfies the transparency requirements 
that apply in the Prime Standard segment.

Public mandatory takeover offer by Mann Immobilien-
Verwaltung AG
In August 2008, Mann Immobilien-Verwaltung AG increased its 
share in POLIS to more than 30% and was obliged as a result to 
submit a mandatory takeover offer to the remaining sharehold-
ers. By the time the acceptance period expired on 13 October 
2008, the mandatory takeover offer had been accepted with 
respect to approximately 20% of the shares. According to infor-
mation provided to the Company, Mann Immobilien-Verwaltung 
AG currently holds 53.2% of the shares in POLIS as of the end 
of the year. Other major shareholders in POLIS are Bouwfonds 
Asset Management Deutschland GmbH (15.1%) and Contrarian 
Capital (8.1%). The free float as defined by Deutsche Börse rep-
resents 31.7% of the shares in POLIS.

POLIS share price performance
The performance of POLIS shares was considerably bet-
ter than the overall stock market trend. This development is 
also largely due to the mandatory takeover offer submitted by  
Mann Immobilien-Verwaltung AG. On 31 December 2008, the  
closing price of POLIS shares was € 9.50. The share price of  
POLIS was thus around 7.8% lower compared to the share’s 
closing price on 31 December 2007. Despite the fact that the 
POLIS share outperformed the market during the reporting pe-
riod, the share price performance was disappointing. 

At current valuations on the stock market, real estate companies 
are trading significantly below the value of their total assets less 
debt. At € 9.50 on 31 December 2008, the price of the POLIS 
share represents a discount of around 32% relative to the net 
asset value (NAV) of € 13.89. The general decline in share prices 
suggests that market participants are uncertain regarding the 
future development of the economy. The unusually high dis-
count for German real estate companies in relation to their NAV 
highlights the uncertainty regarding the financial situation of the 
companies, some of which are highly leveraged, and indicates a 
general skepticism of the capital market regarding the sustain-
ability of property valuations. POLIS is responding to such skep-
ticism by (i) disclosing all information relevant to financing and 
valuation, (ii) providing a transparent presentation of appraisals 
prepared by independent experts, and (iii) selectively selling 
properties for the purpose of realizing valuation gains that have 
been identified.

The average daily traded volume of POLIS shares at the Frank-
furt Stock Exchange (XETRA) in 2008 was 3,112 shares, or € 29 
thousand. Since the initial public offering, 6,859 shares have 
traded daily on average, corresponding to an average trading 
volume of € 88 thousand.

Shareholder structure  
The POLIS shares are held by a broad range of private and insti-
tutional investors. The combination of widely distributed shares 
and financially strong, strategic investors fosters the Company’s 
financial flexibility, management and financial strength.  

Shareholders Shares  %

Mann Immobilien-Verwaltung AG 5,878,885 53.2%

Bouwfonds Asset Management Deutschland GmbH 1,673,112 15.1%

Contrarian Capital Management L.L.C./Jon R. Bauer 900,335 8.1%

Perennial Investment Partners Ltd., Melbourne, Australia 582,407 5.3%

KZVK Darmstadt 514,000 4.7%

Board of Management 52,000 0.5%

Other shareholders 1,450,261 13.1%

Total 11,051,000 100.0%

Free float as defined by Deutsche Börse:  31.7%
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09The POLIS Share

As of 31 December 2008, the Board of Management held ap-
proximately 0.5% of the Company’s share capital. For members 
of the Board of Management and the management team of  
POLIS, a stock option plan has been set up that satisfies the re-
quirements of the German Corporate Governance Code.  

Share buyback program
In the annual general meeting on 4 July 2008, the Company was 
authorized to acquire and dispose of POLIS shares represent-
ing a notional share in the share capital of up to € 11,051,000. 
Currently, there is no intention of exercising the authority to buy 
back own shares. To date, POLIS does not hold any own shares.

Investor relations 
Capital market participants expect a transparent flow of infor-
mation about a company. By openly and continuously exchang-
ing information with the capital market, POLIS strives to estab-
lish a relationship of trust with the financial community and to 
facilitate a realistic assessment of the Company’s value. 

Our investor relations work is mainly focused on financial ana-
lysts, institutional and private investors and financial journalists. 
We communicate with them in the context of General Share-
holders’ Meetings and in periodic direct discussions, and also 
by providing comprehensive financial information in the form of 
annual reports and interim reports as well as press statements 
with up-to-date information on specific events. The Board of Di-
rectors and the investor relations team represent the Company 
in regular intervals at conferences with investors and financial 
analysts and conduct one-on-one discussions nationally and in-
ternationally. 

One focus of our work was to present our corporate strategy, to 
attract new investors and analysts as well as communicate with 
the capital market in the context of the mandatory takeover of-
fer of the Mann Group. At the beginning of the year, POLIS was 
routinely covered by two analysts; in the mean time, three ana-
lysts publish company-specific studies concerning our Company, 
while two other analysts publish reports on POLIS in the context 
of industry studies.

Development of the POLIS share price since IPO    |    compared to net asset value per share, in €

NAV/Share 
POLIS share

10

15

21 March 2007 31 December 2008

€ 11.78

€ 12.93 € 13.04
€ 13.79 € 13.95

€ 14.19 € 13.89€ 13.02



Development of the POLIS share price    |    in comparison to indexes, in %

The main objectives of the investor relations work in 2009 are 
to increase the number of financial analysts covering POLIS, to 
improve the share’s liquidity, to foster the positive reputation 
POLIS enjoys in the capital markets with respect to reliability, 
trustworthiness and its sense of responsibility, to engage in an 
active dialogue with investors in order to best appreciate their 
needs and to communicate this information within the Com-
pany to support a value-driven management.

Contact details for the POLIS Investor Relations team 

POLIS Immobilien AG

Rankestrasse 5–6 
10789 Berlin (Germany)

Mr. Roger Sturm 
Phone: 	 +49 (0) 30 225 00 261  
Fax: 	 +49 (0) 30 225 00 299

Internet: 	 www.polis.de 
E-Mail: 	 IR@polis.de
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Portfolio overview

Berlin Berlin Berlin Dortmund

 Luisenstrasse 46
Potsdamer 
Strasse 58

Rankestrasse 
5–6

Klepping- 
strasse 20

Transfer of possession 15.05.2002 25.05.2001 01.05.2008 31.12.2006

Year built 1936 1930 1955 1954

Renovated/Modernized 2002 2004 1996 1994

Market value1 € thsd. 10,770 15,150 16,990 5,170

Discount rate2 % 7.1% 7.1% 7.2% 7.3%

Total area (rounded)3 m² 3,100 5,500 7,400 2,800

Office m² 2,663 4,640 6,300 1,996

Retail m² 438 493 488 514

Residential m² 0 0 0 0

Archive m² 45 347 590 275

Parking space number 24 20 74 11

Average remaining term of leases4 years 2.7 0.9 3.5 4.4

Occupancy rate (per space) 31 Dec. 20075 % 100% 97% - 69%

Occupancy rate (per space) 31 Dec. 20085 % 95% 92% 76% 84%

Occupancy rate (per revenue) % 95% 92% 71% 90%

Rent 20076 € thsd. 553 818 - 291

Rent 20086 € thsd. 627 886 437 327

Annualized current-rent € thsd. 620 880 880 360

Rent if fully leased7 € thsd. 650 950 1,140 400

Annualized potential-rent8 € thsd. 670 980 1,250 390

Return on potential-rent9 % 6.2% 6.4% 7.5% 7.5%

Feri rating1 B+ B+ B+ B

1	 �According to value appraisal by Feri EuroRating Services AG as of 31.12.2008
2	 ��According to value appraisal by Feri EuroRating Services AG; Discount rate  

of the discounted-cash-flow-model (IRR): According to Feri, this is the return 
that a particular property must generate in order to earn a risk-adjusted rate 
of return

3	 ��May differ from sum of individual values due to rounding differences
4	 ��Weighted average based on rental revenues

5	 ��Calculated as a ratio of the leased space to the overall space
6	 ��Based on audited Group financial statements as of the respective  

year applying IFRS
7	 ��Sum of the contractually agreed rent and notional rent assuming that all 

unoccupied rental space is leased at the market rate deemed appropiate

Explanations
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8	 �Notional rent assuming that all rental space is leased at the market rate 
deemed appropriate by Feri EuroRating Services AG

9	 �Relation of annualized potential rent to market value of the property
10	 �Due to major refurbishment project, no letting activities undertaken

11	 �Achieving the potential rent is conditional upon major modernization work, 
therefore the yield is calculated on the basis of the presumed value following 
modernization 

12	 �excluding Konrad-Adenauer-Ufer 41–45
13	 �Investment properties in current assets and financial investments (1 x 5.1%)

Dusseldorf Dusseldorf Dusseldorf Dusseldorf

 
Berliner 
Allee 42

Berliner 
Allee 44

Berliner  
Allee 48

Immermann- 
strasse 11

Transfer of possession 01.11.2007 01.08.2000 01.10.2006 01.12.2007

Year built 1960 1957 1956 1960

Renovated/Modernized - 2001 - -

Market value1 € thsd. 6,050 7,790 5,330 3,060

Discount rate2 % 6.9% 7.0% 6.9% 6.9%

Total area (rounded)3 m² 3,200 3,700 2,500 1,700

Office m² 2,024 2,729 1,827 1,050

Retail m² 743 445 266 338

Residential m² 141 139 237 163

Archive m² 317 399 138 160

Parking space number 29 17 0 10

Average remaining term of leases4 years 2.2 0.3 3.0 0.2

Occupancy rate (per space) 31 Dec. 20075 % 57% 98% 81% 85%

Occupancy rate (per space) 31 Dec. 20085 % 80% 94% 90% 72%

Occupancy rate (per revenue) % 82% 99% 91% 71%

Rent 20076 € thsd. 28 563 277 16

Rent 20086 € thsd. 237 567 308 170

Annualized current-rent € thsd. 290 600 330 170

Rent if fully leased7 € thsd. 340 610 360 220

Annualized potential-rent8 € thsd. 470 560 340 230

Return on potential-rent9 % 7.8% 7.2% 6.4% 7.6%

Feri rating1 A A A A
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Dusseldorf Dusseldorf Dusseldorf Frankfurt a.M. Hamburg Hamburg Hamburg

Kasernen- 
strasse 1 Steinstrasse 11 Steinstrasse 27 Gutleutstrasse 26

Bugenhagen
strasse 5

Domstrasse 10/ 
Schauenburger 
Strasse 15 & 21

Ludwig-Erhard-
Strasse 14

31.12.2006 31.12.1999 01.09.2000 30.06.2001 01.04.2008 01.08.2007 01.10.2006

1954 1913 1960 1970 1913/14 1906/11/86 1969

- 2000 1998 1996 - 2002 1996

11,740 8,460 8,330 11,110 5,070 13,080 12,060

6.9% 6.9% 6.9% 7.1% 7.0% 6.9% 7.1%

4,800 2,400 3,500 3,500 2,500 6,500 4,900

3,267 1,814 2,917 3,538 1,695 4,437 4,590

800 392 325 0 260 1,455 0

285 0 0 0 0 0 0

436 196 232 0 567 565 324

14 0 20 29 15 12 29

2.8 2.1 3.4 5.0 4.6 0.9 2.6

97% 81% 96% 100% 100% 51% 52%

82% 55% 98% 100% 90% 27% 91%

92% 65% 100% 100% 85% 27% 80%

695 519 540 972 - 227 443

777 389 531 750 195 304 510

770 360 600 750 250 270 780

840 490 600 750 290 470 930

850 520 590 810 370 1,010 780

7.2% 6.3% 7.1% 7.3% 7.2% 7.7% 6.4%

A A A A A A A

          

»Outstanding«  ...........................................................  AAA
»Excellent«  ......................................................................  AA
»Very good«  ...................................................................  A
»Above Average«  ....................................................  B+
»Slightly Above Average«  ............................  B

»Average«  .........................................................................  C
»Slightly Below Average«  ............................  D
»Below Average«  ....................................................  D-
»Poor«  ...................................................................................  E
»Very poor«  .....................................................................  E-

Feri rating categories

Visualization Visualization
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Hamburg Hanover Hanover Kassel

 Steinstrasse 12-14 Landschaftstrasse 2 Landschaftstrasse 8 Koenigsplatz 57

Transfer of possession 01.05.2008 31.12.2006 31.12.2006 01.11.2007

Year built 1925 1983 1885 1950

Renovated/Modernized 1994 - 2006 1995

Market value1 € thsd. 5,770 4,070 3,940 2,850

Discount rate2 % 7.1% 7.3% 7.3% 7.3%

Total area (rounded)3 m² 2,800 3,600 2,600 2,200

Office m² 2,540 3,622 2,166 1,921

Retail m² 0 0 0 0

Residential m² 0 0 0 0

Archive m² 233 0 437 307

Parking space number 5 54 0 4

Average remaining term of leases4 years 1.6 5.2 3.1 3.2

Occupancy rate (per space) 31 Dec. 20075 % - 61% 100% 95%

Occupancy rate (per space) 31 Dec. 20085 % 92% 90% 100% 96%

Occupancy rate (per revenue) % 96% 89% 100% 98%

Rent 20076 € thsd. - 122 270 29

Rent 20086 € thsd. 2 280 270 178

Annualized current-rent € thsd. 390 370 270 180

Rent if fully leased7 € thsd. 410 410 270 180

Annualized potential-rent8 € thsd. 410 400 280 230

Return on potential-rent9 % 7.3% 10.7% 7.1% 8.2%

Feri rating1 A B+ B+ B+

for explanations, see pages 11/12
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Cologne Cologne Cologne Cologne Cologne Cologne Mainz

Ebertplatz 1
Gustav-Heine-
mann-Ufer 54 Hansaring 20

Konrad-Adenauer-
Ufer 41-45 Neumarkt 49

Weyerstrasse 
79-83

Rheinstrasse 
43-45

15.06.2007 01.10.2007 01.11.2007 01.04.2007 31.12.2007 01.05.2008 01.11.2007

1960 1989 1975 1953 1957 1962 1976

2002 - 2006 - 2005 2008 -

7,290 14,210 4,030 9,300 7,370 15,120 2,650

7.0% 7.3% 7.3% 7.1% 7.2% 7.2% 7.3%

3,700 7,300 2,000 4,500 3,400 9,300 1,800

3,352 7,015 1,954 4,073 2,957 6,990 1,466

224 0 0 0 411 1,261 284

68 0 0 0 0 0 0

20 327 61 400 82 1,013 97

0 214 10 53 9 91 10

3.2 0.9 2.6 –10 5.4 5.5 0.8

100% 49% 73% –10 98% 65% 76%

99% 46% 75% –10 100% 83% 83%

100% 49% 75% –10 100% 89% 83%

246 145 38 0 0 - 25

487 620 227 0 488 437 164

490 630 240 0 490 850 170

490 950 300 1,170 490 940 200

510 1,330 300 1,170 540 1,190 230

7.3% 9.0% 7.6% 6.6%11 7.3% 7.9% 9.0%

A B+ B+ A B+ B+ B+

          

Visualization
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Mainz Mannheim Munich Stuttgart

 
Rheinstrasse  

105-107 Friedrichsring 46 Lessingstrasse 14
Boeblinger  

Strasse 8

Transfer of possession 30.09.2007 01.11.2007 15.12.2007 01.11.2007

Year built 1968 1965 1967 1973

Renovated/Modernized - 2002 2002 2004

Market value1 € thsd. 4,400 2,960 9,760 3,790

Discount rate2 % 7.1% 7.3% 7.0% 7.1%

Total area (rounded)3 m² 2,800 2,000 3,200 2,200

Office m² 2,290 1,440 2,611 953

Retail m² 0 146 383 920

Residential m² 330 406 0 364

Archive m² 214 49 245 7

Parking space number 45 0 37 36

Average remaining term of leases4 years 2.0 3.2 3.3 3.0

Occupancy rate (per space) 31 Dec. 20075 % 94% 69% 74% 86%

Occupancy rate (per space) 31 Dec. 20085 % 97% 90% 76% 100%

Occupancy rate (per revenue) % 99% 90% 74% 98%

Rent 20076 € thsd. 72 23 10 36

Rent 20086 € thsd. 290 156 459 241

Annualized current-rent € thsd. 290 190 450 260

Rent if fully leased7 € thsd. 290 210 570 270

Annualized potential-rent8 € thsd. 360 230 710 300

Return on potential-rent9 % 7.8% 7.9% 7.2% 8.0%

Feri rating1 B+ B+ A B+

for explanations, see pages 11/12
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Stuttgart Stuttgart Portfolio

Other properties &  

Financial assets13

Total property  

assets

Tuebinger Strasse 
31 & 33

Quartier  
Buechsenstrasse

31.12.2006 30.06.2007

1949 1907-1956

2000 1985

9,750 29,730 277,150 2,853 280,003

7.3% 7.0% 7.1%

5,000 14,900 131,300

2,643 11,809 105,290

1,306 0 11,893

168 918 3,220

884 2,138 11,104

11 142 1,025

2.3 1.0 3.0

92% 98% 79%

89% 95% 81%

98% 95% 80%

555 951 8,464

555 1,899 13,768

550 1,860 15,590

560 1,950 18,700

700 2,280 20,990

7.2% 7.7% 7.4%12

B+ A A
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Business and economic environment

Group structure and business activities

The business model of POLIS Immobilien AG

POLIS Immobilien AG, founded 1998 in Berlin, acquires office buildings for its own property portfolio. By actively 

managing our own properties including modifications, upgrades, extensions, elimination of vacancies and other 

measures, we continuously generate increases in the value of our real estate holdings. We capture this apprecia-

tion by selectively selling properties within the scope of our moderate buy-and-sell strategy. We focus exclusively 

on office buildings in attractive central locations in key German business centers and invest in properties with 

a meaningful potential for appreciation or a stable cash flow. The strong focus on the German market, selected 

cities, central locations and typically on buildings erected between 1950 and 1970 leads to a high degree of  

specialization, which increases the efficiency of our work and allows us to achieve excellent results in planning 

and carrying out projects. Our in-house asset management team, currently comprising 21 employees, manages 

the commercial and technical aspects of our property portfolio valued at approximately € 280 million and is 

responsible for performing all key operational tasks such as acquisition and sales, development, letting, ad

ministration and accounting. 

Group structure and management

POLIS Immobilien AG is an operational holding company managed by two members of the Board of Manage- 

ment. The Speaker and Chief Executive Officer is responsible for strategy, portfolio management, staff, legal  

matters and taxes, while the Chief Financial Officer manages finances, asset management, organization and in-

formation technology. Our employees are employed by the holding company while the properties are held via 

property companies (which usually take the German legal form of »GmbH & Co. KG«). POLIS and all property 

companies have their registered offices in Berlin. There are no branch offices.

Focus on office buildings 

in the leading German 

cities

Group Management Report
of POLIS Immobilien AG for financial year 2008

Simplified illustration of the corporate structure of the POLIS Group

POLIS Grundbesitz Objekt 
Verwaltungs GmbH

General Partner

POLIS Immobilien AG

100%

100%

100%

94%

5.1%

Property companies (GmbH & Co. KGs)

POLIS Objekt Luisenstrasse 46 GmbH

POLIS Objekt Potsdamer Strasse 58 GmbH

one financial investment (GmbH & Co. KG)



Commercial and industry-specific environment

Development of overall economic environment

After GDP initially grew by 5.7% in the first quarter of 2008, Germany’s economic performance dropped notice-

ably in the following periods. The international financial market crisis has now become an economic crisis. It has 

caused a serious slowdown in economic activity among the major trading partners, in turn resulting in a decline 

in German exports. This has meant that Germany also entered a downward economic trend in late 2008; how-

ever, the high number of employed persons of approximately 40 million and the low inflation rate of only 1.1% in 

December represent positive aspects. Overall, the economic climate for office buildings in Germany has cooled 

down in the course of 2008.

–	 According to the German Federal Statistical Office, overall GDP growth in 2008 in real terms was only 

1.3% compared to the previous year (increase 2007: 2.5%). According to the Kiel Institute for the World 

Economy, GDP will contract by a further 2.7% in 2009.

–	 In 2008, the labor market benefited from the previous year’s economic growth. During the year under 

review, employment reached its highest level since the German reunification. Based on the total civilian 

workforce, the unemployment rate was 7.4% in December 2008, after 8.1% in the previous year (source:  

German Federal Employment Agency). 

– 	 As a result of falling commodity prices, the inflationary pressures decreased over the course of the year. 

The increase in consumer prices in Germany slowed down from 2.8% at the end of 2007 to 1.1% most 

recently; in October and November, consumer prices in seasonally adjusted terms even fell by 0.2% and 

0.3%, respectively.

–	 After peaking at almost 1.60 USD/EUR in early July, the euro exchange rate was 1.41 USD/EUR as of  

30 December 2008 (closing rate for 2007: 1.47 USD/EUR); this decline of the euro relative to the US  

dollar has helped the export sector. 

– 	 The assessment by German companies of their current situation at the end of 2008 as well as their pro

spects for the next six months are the most pessimistic since the time of the second oil crisis in 1982  

(ifo Business Climate Index for trade and industry in Germany). 

– 	 Given the economic downturn and the reserved expectations of companies, a considerable reduction in 

employment levels in German industry is expected for 2009.

– 	 After increasing its key lending rate from 4.00% to 4.25% in July 2008, the European Central Bank (ECB) 

then decided to cut interest rates down to 2.5% at the end of last year. 

– 	 The risk premiums for corporate bonds issued by companies with a medium credit rating were very high 

by historical standards. No new issues of mortgage bonds (Pfandbriefe) were carried out, which meant that 

banks were unable to refinance real estate loans via mortgage bonds. 
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The economic climate  

for office buildings in 

Germany cooled down  

in the course of 2008.

+1.3% GDP
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Industry-specific environment

The international financial and economic crisis is increasingly affecting the German property market. The equity 

base of a number of financial institutions has suffered considerably, and the willingness of banks to provide loans 

has declined. A more restrictive behavior of banks makes transactions more difficult, reducing the volume of 

modernization projects as a result. This development will tend to reduce demand for properties and construction 

services.

In the short to medium term, refinancing and the extension of credit lines will only be possible in return for 

substantially increased margins. At the same time, property companies are facing difficulties in accessing capital 

markets due to the negative performance of share prices – shares in some property companies are even trading 

below their nominal value. Individual companies will violate their terms of credit and thus be forced to absorb 

increased credit margins. It is conceivable that if the financial crisis grows worse, property owners will be forced 

to sell properties below the values stated in their accounts in order to comply with their terms of credit. At the 

moment, however, such distress sales are not widespread. 

Rental revenues for office buildings correlate very closely with GDP growth. The increase in the number of office 

employees in the most important office markets in financial year 2008 led to an increase in the demand for prop-

erty rental services and a reduction in vacancies. However, since companies’ staffing plans indicate a reduction in 

employment levels, we are expecting lower rental revenues in the market for office buildings.

Key economic factors

Development of the commercial property market in Germany

We generate our income in particular from rental revenues as well as from the sale of properties. The results of the 

revaluation of our property portfolio as of every reporting date also strongly influence our annual financial results. 

The terms of new and follow-on leases as well as of acquisitions and sales and the development of market values 

are primarily determined by the development of the German office property market. This development is influ-

enced by macroeconomic factors, in particular overall economic growth, interest rates, company’s expectations 

regarding their future economic development, the supply of and demand for office properties in relevant locations 

as well as special factors in local markets, the attractiveness of Germany as a business location in comparison to 

other countries and global markets and the legal and fiscal environment.

GDP  
growth Inflation

3 month 
EURIBOR

5 years 
(swap-rate)

10 years 
(swap-rate)

2008 1.30% 1.10% 2.93% 3.28% 3.80%

2007 2.50% 2.20% 4.68% 4.55% 4.71%

2006 2.90% 1.70% 3.73% 4.12% 4.19%

2005 0.80% 2.00% 2.49% 3.20% 3.44%

2004 1.10% 1.60% 2.16% 3.15% 3.74%

Sources: Monthly report for December 2008, German Federal Employment Agency, German Federal Statistical Office, 
Ifo Institute, Deutsche Konjunktur im Winter 2008, Kiel Institute for the World Economy. 



Furthermore, the results achieved by POLIS are determined by the markets at the locations of our properties. Each 

location is exposed to specific regional factors. Developments at the individual locations such as demographic 

trends, regional/local economic trends or the development of the service sector, the supply of office space, the 

economic strength or purchasing power, unemployment trends, and the arrival or departure of companies can all 

influence the economic success of POLIS.

Development of rental income

Rental revenues can be influenced by the general level of rent for office properties in Germany or at the respective 

location because the terms at which new and follow-on leases are agreed change accordingly. The level of rental 

revenues may be influenced by changes in prices per square meter in the context of follow-on leases as a result 

of property- or location-specific factors. As a general rule, increasing vacancy rates in a given property market 

usually lead to reduced rental revenues and vice versa. And since many lease agreements contain a clause for 

adjusting the rent in line with inflationary trends, the development of the rate of inflation also influences the level 

of rental revenues achieved.

Financing expenses and interest rate levels

We typically finance the acquisition of properties by using bank loans, usually amounting to a debt ratio of 60% 

of the property value. POLIS’ liabilities to banks are kept on a floating rate basis to a reasonable extent in order to 

benefit from low short-term interest rates. To guard against interest rate fluctuations, derivative financial instru-

ments are used to hedge some of the liabilities to banks that involve floating interest rates. This means that the 

earnings power of POLIS is influenced to a considerable degree by the development of the general interest rate 

level.

Trends in the investment market for office buildings in Germany

Decline in the transaction volume

According to real estate brokerage reports, the overall transaction volume in 2008 in the commercial property 

sector was around € 20 billion, compared to around € 55 billion in 2007. The volume of cross-border transactions 

has also declined. The financial crisis has led to reduced liquidity and a declining availability of credit, and the 

markets have changed significantly as a result. The obvious discrepancy between the sellers’ asking prices and the 

prices offered by buyers has temporarily led to a complete standstill on transaction markets. At the end of 2008, 

many economic climate surveys are indicating a downward trend. 

The situation for property market investors is currently unclear. On the one hand, major open-end real estate 

funds suspended the redemption of shares in October 2008 after incurring high outflows of funds. These funds 

represent a major group of buyers and a significant share of the market and have stopped their investment activ

ities for the time being. On the other hand, institutional investors – such as insurance companies and pension 

funds – wish to substantially increase the share of real estate in their investment portfolios. Properties have 

become increasingly attractive in the eyes of such investors due to their balanced opportunity-risk profile. The 

stock market is subject to strong fluctuations, and the returns offered on the bond market are too low for pension 

and similar retirement funds to meet their commitments to their customers. According to the BVI (Bundesverband 

Investment and Asset Management; German investment and asset management association), special funds for 

institutional investors have been recording extremely high inflows of funds, for instance € 7.2 billion in November. 

Also, the behavior of wealthy private investors, who consider properties a safe and profitable investment, sug-

gest a continued interest in investments. Investors with a strong equity base are following the developments on 

the property market intently, are expecting interesting opportunities to arise, and are occasionally engaging in 

transactions. 

The German office market is considered undervalued when compared to international benchmarks and is there-

fore seen as one of the most attractive property markets, with positive expectations for future developments. We 

expect to see an increase in transactions involving smaller units financed by a higher share of equity. This is the 

area where we have identified potential for our business model and the further expansion of our portfolio. 
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Trends in the office property rental market in Germany

Turnover at a high level

The high level of employment in Germany has had a positive effect on the German rental market for office build-

ings. Thus, according to Atisreal, the turnover of rental space at the nine most important office locations achieved 

the third-best results ever recorded, albeit lower than 2007. However, the economic downturn is beginning to 

affect the markets for rental space; according to real estate brokerage reports, rental turnover was at record levels 

until the middle of 2008; however, the turnover of rental space in the fourth quarter fell significantly compared 

to the previous year’s level. The important issue for POLIS in this context is that the demand for office space with 

modern facilities remained strong. 

Increase in rent levels

On average, top rents increased by approximately 4%; however, Berlin, Frankfurt and Leipzig were not able to 

achieve this rate of growth. In many local office property markets with different rent levels, top as well as aver-

age rents have increased. A strong distinction became apparent in the rent paid for modern rental space in good 

locations and older rental space where rents barely increased at all. We benefit from this development due to our 

concept for upgrading buildings.

Low volume of completions

The areas under construction have increased by 28% compared to 2007; 46% of these areas are not used by 

owner-occupiers and became available on the rental market. For the time being, the completions of new buildings 

will remain at a low level because many new building projects are being postponed. Considering the low number 

of new buildings entering the market and the increasing age of existing office buildings in Germany, the present 

backlog of refurbishment work is substantial.

Reduction in vacancies

Sustained high employment levels have led to a reduction of vacancies in the seven major property locations. The 

following table illustrates this trend.

The relevant issue for our business model is again the development of vacancy rates for rental space with modern 

facilities. These rates decreased by around 10%, while overall vacancy rates only declined by 4%. This means that 

the base level of vacant, old, poorly marketable space continued to rise, while the supply of modern rental space 

decreased rapidly (source: Atisreal GmbH, Office Market Report 2009).

Vacancies in thousand m² Vacancy rate in %

2006 2007 2008 2006 2007 2008

Berlin 1,650 1,550 1,450 9.3 8.7 8.1

Hamburg 1,030 980 880 7.9 7.7 6.9

Dusseldorf 752 661 626 10.6 9.3 8.8

Frankfurt 2,020 1,650 1,580 16.7 14.2 13.6

Stuttgart 467 466 460 6.5 6.4 6.2

Munich 1,073 978 950 7.7 7.6 7.2

Cologne 700 600 600 10.0 8.5 8.3

Source: gif – Year-end Comparison Office Markets Germany 2008			 
			    



Corporate management, objectives and strategy 

Corporate objectives

The objective of POLIS is to permanently increase the value of the Company. Our aim is to generate a stable and 

attractive rate of return by actively managing and continuously developing a high-quality office property portfolio 

with properties in central locations. In the mid-term, we intend to achieve the following financial objectives:

–	 overall rate of return for POLIS of 8% p.a. via a 

–	 dividend yield of 3% p.a. and an 

–	 increase in the net asset value (NAV) of 5% p.a.

We seek to ensure a balanced risk/return profile by maintaining an appropriate portfolio structure and a moder-

ate degree of leverage.

Internal control system

Control system

We apply a value-driven approach in managing POLIS in order to increase the long-term value of the Company and 

to generate a rate of return for the Company’s shareholders that is appropriate for the Company’s risk profile.

The control system represents an integrated process between asset and portfolio management on the one hand 

and finances and controlling on the other hand. Prior to every purchase decision, management uses a software 

program specifically designed for determining the net present value of an investment as maximum purchase 

price, taking into account all projected income and expenses as well as gains from sale. In using this program, 

we take into consideration the planned modernization work and the rent development over a planning horizon 

that spans several years. The purchase prices are verified by an appraisal prepared by independent experts. In 

addition to determining the market value of new investment properties, the external expert also states his or her 

findings with respect to its classification. In the case of construction projects, we use experienced specialists 

to supervise the construction progress and monitor costs. We integrate the forecasts used in the context of the 

acquisition in our business plan and use them as a basis for preparing the income statement for the properties. 

Management regularly compares the results actually achieved to the projected data within the scope of a target-

performance comparison. Discrepancies trigger the development of options that are then implemented in the 

context of letting or optimizing the portfolio.

Key control system indicators

Furthermore, we determine the internal rate of return (IRR) of possible investments and compare it to a minimum 

interest rate that is commensurate with the risk.

As a property holding real estate company, POLIS also uses a net asset value model for managing the Company 

and enhancing transparency. The net asset value represents the sum of the values of the properties and other 

assets less the Company’s liabilities and related items (see section entitled »Net assets«).

Corporate strategy

Since POLIS was founded, we have endeavored to satisfy the requirements of the capital market. We have always 

considered the long-term creation of value and transparency as the guiding principles of our corporate manage-

ment and pursued our focused strategy from the beginning:

–	 Focus: Focus on centrally located office buildings in the twenty most important German business locations. 

One of the inputs we use in this context is the »City Ranking Report« prepared by the research company 

BulwienGesa AG, which differentiates seven so-called A and thirteen so-called B cities. 
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–	 Core and Value Added: We buy fully let properties with modern facilities or at most minor potential for  

optimization that generate a stable cash flow (»Core«) as well as properties that are vacant or are in 

need of modernization and exhibit tangible potential for added value (»Value Added«). The target share of 

»Core« properties as a basis for generating a continuous and stable cash flow is approximately 75%. The 

goal is to increase the rate of return of the entire portfolio by creating higher added value in the remaining 

share of the portfolio.

–	 Balanced risk/return profile: A balanced risk/return profile is maintained by continuously evaluating and 

managing the composition of the portfolio between the »Core« and »Value Added« qualities and by limit-

ing the proportion of debt to at most 60% of the market values. 

–	� Stabilizing rental revenues by pursuing a »multi-tenant strategy«: We pursue a multi-tenant strategy as 

opposed to a single-tenant strategy, meaning that our business model is primarily focused on office prop-

erties with several tenants as opposed to properties with a single occupier. This results in a significant 

reduction in the risk of loss of rental revenues and the expiry of individual lease agreements as well as 

the dependency on specific industry 

trends.

–	� Fungible property sizes: We invest in 

properties with market values ranging 

between € 5 million and € 25 million.

–	 Moderate buy and sell concept: The 

achieved value added is to be realized 

by a select number of sales where par-

ticularly attractive sales opportunities 

arise in order to either increase the 

potential for distributing dividends or 

to invest capital in new properties that 

represent more attractive opportuni-

ties.

–	 Active asset management and customer orientation: The rigorous pursuit of value-adding strategies and 

orientation of all processes in accordance with the needs of the tenants are some of the fundamental 

principles that guide our activities.

–	 Capital market orientation: Transparency with respect to the business model and the information on prop-

erties as well as the observance of EPRA standards are part of our way of doing business and form the 

basis of good investor relations.

-	 Sustainability: We are committed to providing spaces to our tenants that are environmentally compatible, 

resource-efficient and economical and that support the health, performance and well-being of our ten-

ants. We endeavor to optimize all (construction) measures and (procurement) processes in terms of their 

ecological impact and will document our efforts transparently.

–	 Medium-term expansion of the property portfolio: We plan to continue to expand our office property 

portfolio and maintain our current focus and high quality standards. We believe that by increasing  

the property portfolio we can achieve economies of scale that will further increase the Company’s profit-

ability. 

–	 Achieving the status as a REIT AG: With its clear focus, POLIS remains destined to become a REIT. How-

ever, there are risks arising from the REIT law involving the permanent retention of the REIT status and 

the exposure of investments made in the process of converting into a REIT. Moreover, shareholders that 

take the form of corporations incur tax-related disadvantages from the fact that distributions of REITs are 
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subject to trade tax. It is the continued objective of POLIS to achieve the REIT status. As soon as the risk 

of inadvertently losing the REIT status has become manageable and the legislator has removed the trade 

tax disadvantages regarding the REIT dividends, the Board of Management will pursue REITs and act in the 

shareholders’ interests. The Board of Management is actively taking part in the discussions surrounding 

the reform of the REIT law in order to increase the attractiveness of the REIT status. 

Competitive position 

Market environment

According to a study prepared by BulwienGesa AG, 60% of the rentable office space in Germany is located in the 

20 most important office locations, the market focus of POLIS. This market is characterized by a strongly frag-

mented ownership structure. Only a small proportion of the overall office space in Germany is owned by stock-

listed property companies and investment companies, and a relatively high share by international standards is 

still owned by companies or private investors. The market for acquiring and managing office buildings remains 

substantial and continues to provide opportunities for growth to specialized property companies.

The positioning of POLIS

In this market environment, we consider ourselves a specialist for the modernization and active management of 

office buildings in a segment that is strongly focused on location as well as the sizes and qualities of properties. 

Our properties are often too large for private investors; however, for large institutional property owners or closed-

end real estate funds, they are rather small. This specialization represents a competitive advantage for POLIS. 

With its concept, POLIS holds a unique position among stock-listed German property companies. 

Overview of business performance 
The key highlights of the past financial year can be summarized as follows:

–	 Increase in rental revenues by 53% compared to financial year 2007, to € 14,993 thousand

–	 Increase in net rental income by 49%, to € 12,736 thousand

–	 Acquisition of four properties representing a volume of € 41,074 thousand

–	 Sale of two properties at a profit of € 2.4 million.

–	 Let space exceeding 15,300 m², increase in the occupancy rate to 81% 

–	 Results of appraisal € -1.9 million for an overall portfolio volume of € 280 million  

at of the end of the year

–	 Extension of the term of real estate loans to a weighted average of 4.8 years 

–	 Valuation losses regarding hedging instruments due to a drop in interest rates: € 2.6 million.

–	 POLIS was rated the most transparent real estate company in German-speaking countries  

by Feri EuroRating Services AG

–	 Mann Immobilien-Verwaltung AG increased its stake to 53.2% effective mid-October 2008  

by way of a public mandatory takeover offer

Development of the real estate business

Acquisitions 

In the first half of financial year 2008 we carried out four acquisitions.

In the second half of financial year 2008, we deliberately retained our scope for action given the developments 

on the credit and capital markets by maintaining a high equity ratio. The more cautious growth may provide us 

with future acquisition opportunities that many of our competitors cannot respond to. 
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New acquisition in Berlin

We acquired another office building located at »Rankestrasse 5–6« in Berlin for approximately € 17,044 thousand 

(net purchase price € 15,870 thousand). The property with a size of approximately 7,400 m² is located directly 

on Los-Angeles-Platz, only one block away from Kurfuerstendamm near the Kaiser-Wilhelm memorial church. The 

seven-story building with a current occupancy rate of 76% (up from 58% at the time it was acquired) was erected 

in 1955 and comprehensively refurbished in 1996 in conjunction with the construction of a new annex. The 

property includes a generously designed car park comprising 79 parking spaces. Due to its size and high-quality 

design, the building makes a remarkably elegant impression in the overall urban development context. The main 

tenant is a service company of Zurich Versicherung. Since 1 September 2008, our own offices are located in the 

fourth story of the building. As a result of the move and the expansion of one of the building’s tenants, the third 

story has already been let. We have classified the building as a »Core Plus« property due to its vacancy rate. Feri 

EuroRating Services AG appraised the property and awarded it an overall rating of »B+«. The property’s market 

value at the end of the year was € 16,990 thousand, meaning that some of the transaction-related incidental costs 

were not covered. The net initial yield (annualized actual rent as a proportion of the costs of acquisition) was 

3.7% and is expected to increase to 7.0% within two years. By actively managing the property, POLIS will further 

increase the attractiveness of the building along with its occupancy rate, for instance by converting the top (sixth) 

floor from a current 40% residential use to high-quality office space in the course of 2009.

Portfolio in Hamburg expanded

By carrying out two acquisitions in Hamburg we expanded our portfolio of real estate holdings in this location 

to four properties. We purchased a historic office building in »Bugenhagenstrasse 5«, investing a total sum of  

€ 4,563 thousand. The seven-story office and commercial building with a size of 2,500 m² is located at Hamburg’s 

city center and lies within walking distance of the main train station, the Rathausmarkt and the main shopping 

street, Moenckebergstrasse. The historic building was erected in 1913/1914 as a massive construction and is let 

to several tenants. Feri appraised the property and awarded it an overall rating of »A« (= very good) and a market 

value of € 5,070 thousand, resulting in valuation gains of € 507 thousand in the reporting period. The net initial 

yield relative to the acquisition costs was 6.0%. We expect rental revenues of approximately € 240 thousand in 

financial year 2009 and will begin to modernize parts of the building and individual floors in 2009.

City Property 
Transfer of 
possession

Transaction size 
€ thousand

Hamburg Bugenhagenstrasse 5 01.04.08 4,563

Hamburg Steinstrasse 12-14 01.05.08 4,799

Cologne Weyerstrasse 79-83 01.05.08 14,668

Berlin Rankestrasse 5-6 01.05.08 17,044

41,074

Portfolio values
in € million, as of 31 Dec.

2005

71

2006

142

2007

264

2008

280



We acquired another high-quality office building with a traditional, red brick façade located in the immediate 

vicinity of the property at »Bugenhagenstrasse 5« for a gross purchase price of € 4,799 thousand. The impressive 

property at »Steinstrasse 12–14« was built in the mid-twenties and was fully refurbished and modernized in 1994. 

The building, which was vacant at the time it was acquired, has an overall rental space of approximately 2,800 m² 

and eight aboveground floors and has in the mean time been fully let to Hamburger Hochbahn AG. The building 

provides bright, appealing office areas that are ideal for companies seeking a good location and modern facilities. 

Feri appraised the property and awarded it an overall rating of »A« (= very good) and a market value of € 5,770 

thousand, resulting in valuation gains of € 971 thousand in the reporting period. For this building in Hamburg, we 

expect rental revenues of about € 390 thousand in financial year 2009.

Additional properties in Cologne acquired

In December 2007, we signed the purchase contract for our sixth property in Cologne. Purchased at a total price 

of € 14,668 thousand, the spacious office and commercial building located at »Weyerstrasse 79–83« in Cologne 

offers rental space of 9,300 m² and an excellent central location. It is easily accessible and situated only a few 

meters away from Barbarossaplatz in the immediate vicinity of numerous stores, hotels, restaurants, bars and 

cultural institutions. The seven-story building was erected in 1962 and has an occupancy rate of 83% (89% when 

measured by revenue when fully let). The main tenant is DAK, one of the largest German statutory health insur-

ance companies, which has concluded a long-term lease agreement for all office areas (roughly 6,990 m²). The 

building has its own underground car park with 91 parking spaces.

Feri appraised the property and awarded it an overall rating of »B+« (= above average) and a market value of  

€ 15,120 thousand, which after carrying out some minor modernization investments resulted in valuation gains 

of € 323 thousand in the reporting period. This acquisition resulted in a net initial yield of 5.2%. We have already 

succeeded in letting two retail spaces, one small area is still vacant. In view of the long-term lease agreement with 

the main tenant, we have classified the property at »Weyerstrasse 79–83« as a »Core« property. 

Target volume of over € 300 million 

We are seeking to expand the volume of investment properties to over € 300 million. In doing so, we will not 

compromise our high standards regarding location, building quality and yield, and will follow a cautious growth 

path in order to retain our scope for taking advantage of future opportunities.

Sales validate our business model

Sale in Stuttgart 

Effective 31 March 2008, we sold our office building at »Torstrasse 15« in Stuttgart for € 18,230 thousand − 

an impressive corner building located in the city center and within walking distance of the pedestrian zone.  

We originally acquired the office and commercial building, for which the lease agreement with the main tenant 

expired at the end of 2008, in February 2007 for a total investment of € 14,927 thousand. In the third quarter 

of 2007, we succeeded in concluding a lease agreement for an area of 4,700 m² and a term of twelve years with 

Barmer Ersatzkasse. As of 31 December 2007, the valuation gains for the property amounted to € 423 thousand. 

Considering all contractual obligations (tenant modifications and compensation for loss of rent estimated at  

€ 2,257 thousand), we achieved gains from sale of € 589 thousand in 2008. We will carry out planned tenant 

modifications in early 2009.

Sale in Dusseldorf

Effective 31 December 2008, we sold the office and commercial building at »Steinstrasse 20« in Dusseldorf to a 

German private investor. The purchase price was € 20,450 thousand. After deducting all contractual obligations 

we realized gains from sale in the amount of € 1,859 thousand. We had originally acquired the building with an 

area of 5,200 m² in July 2006, expanded it by an entire floor, and comprehensively refurbished it. In the course 
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of revitalizing the building, the quality of the rental space was improved significantly. As a result, we were able 

to attract new tenants already during the construction phase. These measures greatly increased the value of the 

building, which we were subsequently able to realize by selling it.

Our approach in the context of »Torstrasse 15« and »Steinstrasse 20« – especially the acquisition, letting, mod-

ernization and sale – is a good example of our business model at work. As a result of this transaction, we were able 

to show that we invest in the right properties and that good letting performance and modernization know-how 

also generate increases in value in difficult market environments. The sale of such modernization properties is 

part of our moderate buy-and-sell strategy and confirms the valuation of the properties.

Within the scope of our portfolio management, we also examine whether or not certain properties should be of-

fered for sale. Due to weak demand on the market for property transactions, it was not possible to sell the smaller 

properties at »Viehoferstrasse 31« in Essen and »Gallenkampstrasse 20« in Duisburg subject to terms that meet 

our minimum requirements. The intention to sell these properties in the short term remains unchanged. For this 

purpose, further preparatory measures have been carried out.

Modernizations

The modernization work on the building located at »Konrad-Adenauer-Ufer 41–45« in Cologne is at an advanced 

stage. Currently, the impressive building on the Rhine is being expanded by a full floor and a mezzanine floor. 

The existing floors were entirely gutted and reconstructed. The entire façade will be renovated and equipped 

with noise-protected and thermally insulated window systems as well as external sun protection. All building 

engineering services including elevators will be modernized. Moreover, all office areas will be equipped with cool-

ing mechanisms. The heating and cooling requirements will be met by a geothermal system. The existing under

ground car park will be replaced with a new structure. Overall, 53 parking spaces will be built. In carrying out the 

entire project, special emphasis will be placed on the sustainability of the design and the building materials used, 

particularly with respect to managing the building in a resource-efficient manner.

Due to delays in the construction process, we estimate that the work on the building will be completed in the 

third quarter of 2009. At this time, the future value is difficult to predict due to the remaining uncertainties 

regarding construction costs and prior to letting. In this year, the decrease in value determined amounted to  

€ 998 thousand.

Various options for modernizing »Domstrasse 10« in Hamburg are currently being investigated. We estimate that 

the modernization work will be completed in the second quarter of 2010. In the Quartier Buechsenstrasse in 

Stuttgart, the building at »Buechsenstrasse 26/26b« will be revitalized starting in the third quarter of 2009. The 

precise extent of the work has not yet been determined.

Letting as the basis of successful property management

The renting operations constitute an important core area and form the basis of our successful property manage-

ment business. In addition to providing optimum support to our tenants, the sustainable and prompt follow-on 

letting of vacant rental space is of critical importance.

In financial year 2008, we succeeded in concluding lease agreements concerning an overall rental space of 

around 15,300 m². Of this space, around 11,700 m² represent lease agreements with new tenants (previous year: 

13,000 m²), around 1,700 m² concern expansions, and around 1,900 m² concern extensions of existing lease 

agreements. Of the slightly higher results achieved in the previous year (16,900 m²), about 25% were due to the 

conclusion of one exceptional lease agreement. Overall, the agreements concluded in 2008 relate to a rental 

volume of around € 10,100 thousand, contractually secured over their respective terms. The average weighted 

term is 4.7 years. The effective rent as a result of concluding these agreements including all incentives (such as 

provisions stipulating rent-free periods) was € 13.09 per m². At 81%, the occupancy rate as of 31 December 2008 

increased by two percentage points compared to 31 December 2007 despite the acquisition of new properties 

with high vacancy rates. For the 19 properties that have been held in the portfolio for one year (»like for like«), 

the occupancy rate increased from 80% as of 31 December 2007 to 81% as of 31 December 2008. Due to the 

New rental agreements 

closed regarding a total 

rental space of approxi-

mately

15,300 m2



enhanced measures we implemented in our rental space, net rental income for properties held in the portfolio for 

at least two years (»like for like«) remained constant. The average remaining term of all lease agreements is three 

years. Considering all rented spaces and all types of use, the current average rent is approximately € 12.25 per m² 

(previous year: € 12.69 per m²).

The largest lease agreement concluded during the year concerned the historic office building at Steinstrasse 

12–14 in Hamburg. We acquired the vacant, high-quality office building on 1 May 2008 and leased the entire 

building to Hamburger Hochbahn AG within six months, initially for a period of 20 months. Given the good results 

achieved in leasing the building, the property achieved a valuation gain of € 972 thousand.

Location-specific business performance

The following table presents the occupancy rates by location:

Except in Berlin and in Stuttgart, the occupancy rates in financial year 2008 were further increased in all loca-

tions. We were particularly successful in this regard in Dortmund (increase from 69% to 84%) and Hanover 

(increase from 77% to 94%). In Berlin, the high occupancy rate fell as a result of acquiring the partially vacant 

building at »Rankestrasse 5–6«, and in Stuttgart due to the sale of the fully let building at »Torstrasse 15«. 

Seven properties representing a share of 14% of the area and 10% of the property value are situated in secondary 

cities (the so-called B cities). Therefore, the following section presents the trends in the prime cities (the so-called 

A cities) individually, while the secondary cities are discussed in summary form. 

Overview of rental revenues

The following table shows that rental income in A-cities, on a property by property basis, was increased very suc-

cessfully between 2005 and 2008:

 

Rental  
space 
 as at  

31 Dec. 2007 
m2

Occupancy 
rate 

 as at  
31 Dec. 2007 

%

Rental  
space 
 as at  

31 Dec. 2008 
m2

Occupancy 
rate 

 as at  
31 Dec. 2008 

%

Berlin 8,600 98% 16,000 85%

Dortmund 2,700 69% 2,800 84%

Dusseldorf 26,700 81% 21,800 83%

Frankfurt a. M. 3,500 100% 3,500 100%

Hamburg 11,400 52% 16,700 67%

Hanover 6,300 77% 6,200 94%

Kassel 2,200 95% 2,200 96%

Cologne 20,300 59% 30,200 65%

Mainz 4,600 87% 4,600 91%

Mannheim 2,000 69% 2,000 90%

Munich 3,200 74% 3,200 76%

Stuttgart 28,200 96% 22,100 94%

119,700 79% 131,300 81%

* The occupancy rate in Berlin also includes the office floor used for own purposes.
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Rental income

€ thousand 2005 2006 2007 2008

Luisenstrasse 46 455 494 553 627

Potsdamer Strasse 58 388 525 818 886

Rankestrasse 5–6 437

Berlin 843 1,019 1,371 1,950

Berliner Allee 42 28 237

Berliner Allee 44 530 558 563 567

Berliner Allee 48 66 277 308

Immermannstrasse 11 16 170

Kasernenstrasse 1 695 777

Steinstrasse 11 466 513 519 389

Steinstrasse 27 507 503 540 531

Dusseldorf 1,503 1,640 2,638 2,979

Gutleutstrasse 26 937 972 972 750

Frankfurt a. M. 937 972 972 750

Domstrasse 10/Schauenburger Strasse 15 & 21 227 304

Ludwig-Erhard-Strasse 14 111 443 510

Bugenhagenstrasse 5 195

Steinstrasse 12-14 2

Hamburg 111 670 1,011

Ebertplatz 1 246 487

Gustav-Heinemann-Ufer 54 145 620

Hansaring 20 38 227

Konrad-Adenauer-Ufer 41-45 0 0

Neumarkt 49 488

Weyerstrasse 79-83 437

Cologne 429 2,259

Lessingstrasse 14 10 459

Munich 10 459

Boeblinger Strasse 8 36 241

Tuebinger Strasse 31 & 33 555 555

Quartier Buechsenstrasse 951 1,899

Stuttgart 1,542 2,695

Total »A-Cities« 3,283 3,742 7,632 12,103

Other properties 857 1,823

Sold properties 2,134 624 1,320 993

Exclusion of rent-free period 70 -51 -21 74

Total 5,487 4,315 9,788 14,993



Berlin

The Berlin portfolio was expanded as a result of acquiring the property at »Rankestrasse 5–6« (see section 

entitled »Acquisitions«). The shop area in the building at »Potsdamer Strasse 58« has been leased. The vacancy 

resulting from relocating our offices from »Potsdamer Strasse 58« to »Rankestrasse 5–6« at the end of the year 

has already been filled due to a new lease starting in 2009. 

With the exception of a minor office space, the building at »Luisenstrasse 46« is fully let; and also at 

»Rankestrasse«, first lease agreements have been successfully concluded.

Dusseldorf

In Dusseldorf, our business model was validated by the sale of the building at »Steinstrasse 20,« which resulted 

in a sales profit of € 1,859 thousand. Prior to selling the building, we comprehensively refurbished it, added a 

floor, and found first-rate tenants for all but one area. The building was sold effective at the end of 2008. Except 

for some remaining work, the transaction has been completed. In the building at »Steinstrasse 11«, three floors 

were vacant as of the end of the year, two of which were let after the reporting date.

The office space in »Berliner Allee 44« has been leased to a tenant who has not paid rent since the middle of the 

year. The lease agreement was terminated, and the building was subsequently cleared after the reporting date. 

We will modernize the building and find new tenants in 2009. 

Two floors in »Immermannstrasse 11« are also vacant. We are currently in the final stages of negotiating a lease 

agreement.

In »Kasernenstrasse 1«, we are considering refurbishing and restructuring the ground floor area and the top 

floor.

Overall, the development of the Dusseldorf portfolio has been favorable with the exception of the building at 

Berliner Allee 44. Nevertheless, the appraisals for the buildings in Dusseldorf all resulted in lower values than 

in the previous year. This is the result of a less favorable assessment by Feri of the potential for increasing the 

rent in Dusseldorf. Total valuation losses amounted to € 2.6 million, or approximately 4.9% of the market values 

determined in the previous year.

Frankfurt a. M.

We carried out the planned building improvements (€ 374 thousand) together with the tenant of the building at 

»Gutleutstrasse 26«. The tenant also carried out its own investments in the building. 

Hamburg

We were able to let almost all rental spaces in »Ludwig-Erhard-Strasse 14« at favorable terms with the exception 

of half a floor. The increase in value as of the end of the year amounted to € 403 thousand. The Hamburg portfolio 

was further expanded by the acquisition of the buildings at »Bugenhagenstrasse 5« and »Steinstrasse 12–14«  

(see section entitled »Acquisitions«).

We are currently investigating various options for comprehensively modernizing »Domstrasse 10« in Hamburg. 

Technical problems concerning the façade have caused delays, resulting in a valuation loss of € -824 thousand. 

Cologne

Our portfolio in Cologne also grew with the acquisition of »Weyerstrasse 79–83« effective 1 May 2008 (see 

section entitled »Acquisitions«). Our main activity in Cologne over the past year entailed structural work on the 

building at »Konrad-Adenauer-Ufer 41–45« described in detail above in the section entitled »Modernization«. 

For the building at »Gustav-Heinemann-Ufer 54«, the first lease agreements have successfully been concluded. 

The entrance area was comprehensively modernized. We concluded an agreement with the City of Cologne re-

garding construction work on the underground railway in the immediate vicinity that led to a compensation pay-

ment totaling around € 591 thousand. In 2009, we will renovate the top floor, thereby repositioning the building 

with respect to its appearance and features. 
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The valuations in Cologne as of the end of 2008 remained almost unchanged compared to the previous year. As 

a result of exceeding the investment budget, we incurred valuation losses of € 1,152 thousand. 

Munich

In »Lessingstrasse 14«, we did not achieve our objective of fully letting the building in the past year. We will 

improve the building by renovating the windows and optimizing the entrance area in the second quarter of 2009 

in order to thereby support our attempts at finding tenants. Due to the good development of the Munich location, 

the market value remained unchanged compared to the previous year. 

Stuttgart

In Stuttgart we succeeded in selling the building at »Torstrasse 15« (see section entitled »Sales«). The anchor 

tenant of our property at »Quartier Buechsenstrasse« will vacate the premises as planned by 30 June 2009. We 

will comprehensively revitalize the building at »Buechsenstrasse 26« in order to find a new tenant in 2010. The 

remaining rental spaces will be modernized and made available for rent at the end of the year.

Feri rated the Stuttgart location higher than in the previous year, resulting in an overall valuation gain for our 

buildings of € 1,259 thousand. 

Secondary cities

The portfolio in the secondary cities remained unchanged in 2008. We completed the modernization work on 

»Landschaftstrasse 2« in Hanover and have fully let the building with the exception of a minor rental space. 

There were only a few minor changes at the remaining locations. Overall valuations have increased slightly  

(€ 126 thousand).

The buildings in Essen and Duisburg were not sold in 2008 as originally planned. 

Detailed overview of the portfolio

An in-depth and detailed overview of the portfolio including key information on each building and its valuation is 

published on the Internet (www.polis.de) and in the portfolio overview in the Annual Report.

Overall assessment of the business performance of our investment properties

The results for 2008 were affected by the strong growth of the Company in the previous year. As a result of further 

acquisitions, the portfolio reached a volume of around € 300 million at the middle of the year. Rental revenues 

increased more than 50 percent, to € 14,993 thousand, and the occupancy rate grew moderately, to 81%, despite 

additional acquisitions of partially vacant buildings. Despite the economic slowdown, the performance in letting 

rental space was remarkable in 2008. The sale of properties achieved good results, again validating the business 

model of POLIS. The good results achieved with respect to rental revenues as well as letting and selling properties 

were partially offset by the valuation losses incurred as a result of the economic crisis. However, given the nega-

tive development of the economy during the past year, we are nevertheless satisfied with the results we achieved 

with our properties.

Transparency rating

In 2008, Feri EuroRating Services AG rated POLIS the most transparent real estate company in German-speaking 

countries. For us, this represents an acknowledgement of our commitment to clear and open communication. Feri 

analyzed the annual reports of real estate companies based in Germany, Austria and Switzerland with a market 

capitalization of € 50 million or more. The focus was on property portfolio companies. 75% of the rating score 

was determined by transparency regarding assets (fixed and current assets), and 25% by debt capital und the 

calculation of the net asset value. The overall rating is based on 230 individual criteria. The main determinant of 

the rating score was the disclosure of information on a property-by-property basis.
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Results of operations, financial position and net assets

Results of operations

Significant increase of rental revenues

The results of operations of POLIS Immobilien AG remain positive and are characterized by the strong growth 

of the property management results. As a result of enlarging the portfolio and actively managing the properties, 

we were able to increase rental revenues by 53% compared to the previous year, to € 14,993 thousand (previ-

ous year: € 9,788 thousand). With respect to properties that have been in our portfolio since 1 January 2007 or 

earlier, rental revenues on a consistent basis (»like for like«) increased by 3% to € 6.8 million. After deducting 

modernization and maintenance expenses as well as expenses attributable to property management, net rental 

income for financial year 2008, a key operating figure, also increased considerably by 49% to € 12,736 thousand 

(previous year: € 8,524 thousand). 

However, the positive development of rental revenues was not reflected in the results of the revaluation of our 

properties. While in the previous year we still recorded net valuation gains of € 8,772 thousand, the valuations 

for financial year 2008 resulted in a valuation loss of € 1,946 thousand. This result is the net balance of valu-

ation gains of € 4,341 thousand for 15 investment properties and valuation losses of € 6,287 thousand for 17 

properties. This is the result of effects from general changes in the market, but also the results of carrying out 

modernization work. Compared to the overall volume of assets of € 277,670 thousand at the end of the year, this 

change in the market value represents only 0.7%, which we believe is relatively insignificant in view of the current 

financial and economic crisis.

Despite the considerable lack of loans available to financial investors, we were fortunately able in 2008 to sell 

two investment properties at a profit, generating proceeds totaling € 35,422 thousand. The sale of two properties 

in Dusseldorf and Stuttgart yielded € 2,448 thousand. We held the property at »Torstrasse 15« in Stuttgart in our 

portfolio for a period of 14 months and the property at »Steinstrasse 20« in Dusseldorf for 30 months, realizing 

increases in value over these periods totaling € 3,020 thousand.

The resulting overall balance from revaluation (€ -1,946 thousand) and the sale of properties (€ 2,448 thousand) 

is positive.

Administrative expenses in 2008 amounted to € 3,278 thousand, less than in the previous year (€ 3,552 thou-

sand).

Since the positive development of the key figures that are subject to influence by management (particularly net 

rental income and income from the sale of investment properties) could not compensate the considerable decline 

in the income from the revaluation of investment properties, earnings before financing activities and taxes (EBIT) 

in 2008 fell by 22% relative to the previous year, from € 13,346 thousand to € 10,421 thousand. 

Financial results in financial year 2008 amounted to € -9,264 thousand, compared to € -2,684 thousand in the 

previous year. Financial expenses totaling € 9,794 (previous year: € 3,409 thousand) increased primarily as a 

result of the considerably expanded volume of loans due to portfolio growth as well as interest rates that had 

temporarily increased. In addition, we incurred valuation losses not affecting liquidity totaling € 2,564 thousand 

from hedging instruments (previous year: valuation gain of € 10 thousand), which are the result of the significant 

interest rate cuts at the end of the year; as a result of these cuts, financial expenses in subsequent years will be 

correspondingly lower. Hedging the interest rate risk for most of our debt financing is one of the principles we  

apply in order to avoid inappropriate risk levels. Furthermore, we were able to extend the maturity of our debt 

financing in the context of the loan agreements we concluded, while retaining the terms concluded in swap agree-

ments for the corresponding period, thus greatly increasing the financial stability of our Company. 
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As a result of these measures, the weighted average interest rate for all liabilities to banks including interest 

hedges as of 31 December 2008 was 4.1%, compared to 5.2% as of 31 December 2007. The weighted average 

term of the loans increased from less than one year to 4.8 years.

The Consolidated Financial Statements show a consolidated net income for the year of € 1,144 thousand (previ-

ous year: € 9,043 thousand), taking into account all effects that influence liquidity and all effects that do not. The 

key funds from operations indicator amounted to € 2,996 thousand after adjustments for special items, roughly 

equivalent to previous year’s figure of € 2,381 thousand. 

For financial year 2008, we had originally expected earnings before taxes of between € 9 million and € 11 mil-

lion, and had until recently considered earnings near the bottom end of this range possible. This forecast was 

based on the assumption of strong portfolio growth up to € 350 million as well as the successful conclusion of 

modernization work and lease agreements, as a result of which we had anticipated valuation gains of around  

€ 7,000 thousand. The valuation gains would have corresponded to a change in the market value of the portfolio 

at the beginning of the financial year of around 2.7% (from € 264 million), a rate we considered feasible. In view 

of the developments on the international credit and capital markets, we deliberately slowed down our growth in 

the past year in order to preserve our ability to take advantage of future opportunities to acquire further proper-

ties. With respect to the savings in terms of financing expenses, the reduced growth has hardly affected results. 

On balance, the key operational figures such as modernization and maintenance expenses, property manage-

ment expenses and administrative expenses are according to plan. The deviation of earnings before taxes rela-

tive to expected results is therefore largely the result of the valuation of properties and interest hedges. 

Financial position

High equity ratio

With an equity ratio of 49.2% as of 31 December 2008, POLIS is on a sound financial footing and continues 

to have sufficient flexibility for obtaining credit at attractive terms and conditions. Currently, we have access 

to unutilized bank loans totaling € 20,428 thousand. The structure of maturities of the liabilities to banks and 

derivatives is presented in detail in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the chapter entitled 

»Liabilities to banks«. Some loan agreements contain typical covenants requiring that certain financial ratios be 

maintained with respect to individual properties or the loan portfolio (loan to value ratio of 65% or 70%/debt 

service coverage ratio of 1.15 or 1.20). The loan covenants have not been violated. 

The bank balances at the end of the period stood at € 2,056 thousand, compared to € 1,821 thousand on  

31 December 2007.

1	 �Funds from operations = EBIT +/- Income from the revaluation of properties  
+/- Income from the sale of properties +/- Financial results (excluding changes in valuation  
of derivatives) + Income from minority interests - Paid taxes 

€ thousand 2008 2007 Change in %

Cash flow from current business operations 8,862 5,690 56%

Cash flow from investment activities -44,385 -140,770 -68%

Cash flow from financing activities 35,758 136,026 -74%

Cash in banks at the end of the period 2,056 1,821 13%

The difference between 

the EBT and the expected 

result is attributable  

to the result from the  

revaluation of invest-

ment properties and 

interest hedges.



Cash flow from operating activities

From its operating activities, POLIS as in previous years generated a strong positive cash flow of € 8,862 thou-

sand (previous year: € 5,690 thousand). The increase by about 50% is the result of the strong growth of the 

portfolio and the corresponding increase in rental revenues. 

Cash flow from investment activities

The cash flow from investment activities in 2008 in the amount of € -44,385 thousand (previous year: € -140,770 

thousand) illustrates the further expansion of the Company’s portfolio and the associated outflows of funds in 

the context of acquiring new investment properties. For details, please consult the explanations contained in the 

section entitled »Development of the property portfolio«. 

Cash flow from financing activities

Cash flow from financing activities of € 35,758 thousand is largely the result of the net increase of liabilities to 

banks of approximately € 42,258 thousand less interest paid in the amount of € 6,943 thousand. The substantially 

higher cash flow from financing activities in the previous year (€ 136,026 thousand) was mainly related to the 

capital increase/initial public offering (€ 81,193 thousand) and drawing on medium-term and long-term loans in 

the course of expanding the portfolio. 

Low loan-to-value ratio

The »loan-to-value ratio« (ratio of liabilities to banks and the market value of the properties as shown in the bal-

ance sheet) of around 52% as of 31 December 2008 is comparatively conservative for companies with a similar 

risk structure. In relation to the previous year, the key indicator increased from 39.1% in the course of the growth 

of our portfolio. In order to keep leverage low, we do not intend to reach the eventual target loan-to-value ratio of 

60% in the course of the current year.

Credit lines and liquidity are sufficient

At the end of the year, the Group had liquid funds of € 2,056 thousand at its disposal (previous year: € 1,821 

thousand). In order to optimize interest expenses, the Group maintains a comprehensive liquidity management 

system for keeping liquidity levels low while ensuring its access to sufficient credit facilities. 

Loan facilities amounting to € 20,428 thousand (previous year: € 37,410 thousand) are currently available and 

have not been utilized, and can be drawn initially up to the end of 2009. Given the sale of the property at »Stein-

strasse 20«, POLIS will receive € 9,353 thousand in 2009 after the debt has been repaid.

Low risk structure of maturities of liabilities to banks

The weighted average remaining term of the bank loans is 4.8 years as of 31 December 2008. Only three bank 

loans totaling € 7,484 thousand will come due in 2009 (previous year: € 74,538 thousand). These can either be 

extended, or repaid by utilizing existing credit facilities.

Maturity structure of bank loans

in € thousand, share in %

2009

7,484

5%

2010

10,819

7%

2011

41,315

28%

2013 2015

21,217

15%

64,358

44%
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Refinancing costs fell significantly in the second half of the year 

While short- and medium-term interest rates increased in the first half of 2008 in line with rising commodity 

prices, the yield curve fell strongly in the second half of the year as a result of the economic downturn. As a re-

sult, the terms for refinancing have become more favorable. The loan margins POLIS is obliged to pay have also 

remained stable due to the low loan-to-value ratio and existing financing agreements. 

The proportion of unhedged, floating rate liabilities to banks was 37% as of 31 December 2008. The currently 

applicable interest rates for these variable-rate loans have fallen sharply in line with the general market devel-

opment. The weighted interest rate of all liabilities to banks after hedging was 4.1% as of 31 December 2008, 

compared to 5.2% as of 31 December 2007. 

Net assets

Structure of assets and capital

In the past financial year, the balance sheet total increased to approximately € 311 million (previous year:  

€ 272 million). Non-current assets represent 89% of total assets. Only 11% of total assets are current. The overall 

structure of the balance sheet is characterized by the investment properties, which are reported together with the 

properties classified as »Non-current assets held for sale« and represent a volume of approximately € 278 million, 

or also approximately 89% of the balance sheet total. 

The fourth floor of the building at »Rankestrasse 5–6« that POLIS is using itself is reported as a fixed asset with 

a value of € 2,090 thousand.

Investments in investment properties

The POLIS portfolio was successfully expanded in 2008 by four properties that were acquired for approximately 

€ 41.1 million. The market values of the newly acquired properties as disclosed in the IFRS-compliant Consoli-

dated Financial Statements (including the fourth floor of the building at »Rankestrasse 5–6« used for our own 

purposes) amount to € 43.0 million, so that we already achieved valuation gains of € 1.2 million in 2008 including 

investments. 

Moreover, in the past financial year investments were carried out for the purpose of upgrading and extending the 

modernization properties at »Steinstrasse 20« in Dusseldorf (€ 2,194 thousand) and at »Konrad-Adenauer-Ufer 

41–45« in Cologne (€ 3,328 thousand). The investments in the context of modernizing the building at »Stein-

strasse 20« increased the value, which was fully realized by the subsequent sale. However, investments of € 998 

thousand in the building at »Konrad-Adenauer-Ufer 41–45« were not recouped by increases in the market value. 

Appraisal of the properties

As in the previous year, the appraisal of the properties as of 31 December 2008 was carried out by Feri EuroRat-

ing Services AG. Feri provided expert opinions on the market values, a property rating for each investment and an 

€ thousand 2008 2007 Change in %

Non-current assets 278,589 248,621 12%

Current assets 32,808 23,403 40%

Equity 153,085 151,939 1%

Balance sheet total 311,397 272,024 14%

Equity ratio 49.2% 55.9% -12%

Loan-to-value ratio 52.4% 39.1% 34%



overall portfolio rating. The high quality of the portfolio was confirmed once more by its »A« portfolio rating (i.e. 

»very good«).

After the four acquisitions and two sales that occurred in the financial year, the fair value of the investment proper-

ties as of the end of 2008 totaled € 275,060 thousand (previous year: € 246,248 thousand). Two properties with 

a market value of € 2,610 thousand (previous year: three properties valued at € 17,990 thousand) are classified 

as »Non-current assets held for sale«.

The recognized market values of the individual properties are set forth in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial 

Statements; the rating prepared by Feri is published in the portfolio overview on the Internet and in the annual 

report. 

High quality of receivables

Receivables and other financial assets have increased largely as a result of the sale of the property at »Stein-

strasse 20« in Dusseldorf, from € 3,238 thousand as of 31 December 2007 to € 27,757 thousand. The purchase 

price of approximately € 20,450 thousand is due on 1 March 2009. The claim for payment has been secured by 

means of a bank guarantee. Further information is provided in the risk report in the Group Management Report 

and in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Net asset value

The net asset value of POLIS is calculated as follows:

With respect to the existing 11,051,000 shares, the net asset value per share amounts to € 13.89 as of 31 Decem-

ber 2008 (previous year: € 13.79). The so-called net net asset value is then determined by taking into account the 

effect of deferred taxes. As of 31 December 2008, this figure amounted to € 13.85 per share. 

Qualified employees

We can only achieve our corporate objectives and growth targets if we succeed in attracting and retaining highly 

motivated and competent employees. We foster a culture of flat hierarchies and open communication and have 

established the conditions for initiative, trust and performance. As of the end of the year, the number of employ-

ees has grown to 24, of which seven employees are university graduates, and most of the other staff members 

have completed professional vocational training, many with additional professional or academic qualifications.  

A high proportion of our employees have variable compensation components, the level of which is determined on 

the basis of the Company’s success and their personal contribution to this success. 

In September, two trainees began their vocational training as real estate managers with POLIS. 

€ thousand

Carrying amounts of investment properties 277,670

Carrying amounts of investments 243

Other assets less other liabilities 21,027

Liabilities to banks -145,481

Net Asset Value 153,459

Deferred taxes -374

Net Net Asset Value 153,085
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Concluding remarks concerning the results of operations,  
financial position and net assets
Compared to the previous years, the results of POLIS’ operations have reached a new level as a result of the 

growth of the portfolio. Net rental income increased strongly and will continue to form the basis of our income. 

Growth in this year has been offset by valuation losses. Despite the intensifying financial crisis and the increas-

ingly restrictive terms for loans stipulated by banks, POLIS with its focus on quality properties in attractive central 

locations and its sound capital structure is well prepared for a weakening economy. Our equity ratio of approxi-

mately 49% (loan to value ratio: approximately 52%) not only covers possible operational risks, it also provides 

us with the opportunity to obtain additional loans at terms that are still favorable in case we elect to take advan-

tage of investment opportunities.

Corporate governance and compensation report

POLIS identifies with the objectives of the German Corporate Governance Code 

The German Corporate Governance Code is intended to provide national and international investors with a trans-

parent view of the rules applying in Germany to the Management and supervision of companies in order to foster 

trust in the corporate governance of German corporations. 

POLIS identifies with the recommendations contained in the German Corporate Governance Code, which was 

issued in 2002 and last amended on 6 June 2008. We believe corporate governance means responsible manage-

ment and supervision in support of achieving long-term added value. We are committed to acting in an ethical, 

transparent and responsible manner in our relations to shareholders, business partners, employees and the gen-

eral public.

In March 2009, the Board of Management and the Supervisory Board of POLIS will issue statements concerning 

the recommendations expressed in the German Corporate Governance Code. In 2008, POLIS complied almost 

entirely with the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code. The current Compliance State-

ment of the Board of Management and the Supervisory Board has been published on the website of POLIS (www.

polis.de). 

Close cooperation between the Board of Management and the Supervisory Board

As a German Aktiengesellschaft, POLIS is governed by German corporate law and therefore has a two-tiered 

management and control structure that consists of a Board of Management and a Supervisory Board.

Board of Management

The Board of Management currently consists of two members. The Board of Management manages the Company’s 

business operations in accordance with the law, the Company’s Articles of Association and the by-laws for the 

Board of Management. It represents the Company in relation to third parties. It is the responsibility of the Board of 

Management to ensure that an appropriate risk management and control structure is implemented so that develop-

ments that pose a risk to the continued existence of the Company can be identified early on. 

Furthermore, the Board of Management is obliged to report to the Supervisory Board regularly – at least quarterly 

– regarding business operations, in particular with respect to revenues and the situation of the Company and its 

subsidiaries, and to communicate in the last Supervisory Board meeting of the financial year the intended business 

policy and other fundamental corporate planning issues and to present a budget for the following financial year as 

well as a medium-term financial plan, which are then to be approved by way of a resolution. Moreover, the Board 

of Management is obliged to report to the Supervisory Board any business transactions that could be of material 

importance with respect to the Company’s profitability or liquidity in such a timely manner that the Supervisory 

Board has the opportunity to comment before any such business transactions are carried out. In the case of im

portant issues, the Board of Management is obliged to report to the chairman of the Supervisory Board.

Loan to value ratio

52%



Supervisory Board

According to the Company’s Articles of Association as well as Sections 95, 96 AktG (Aktiengesetz; German Stock 

Corporation Act), the Supervisory Board consists of six members who are elected by the General Meeting. The 

Supervisory Board elects a chairperson and a deputy chairperson from among its members. The Supervisory 

Board has adopted by-laws and formed a personnel committee.

The Supervisory Board appoints the members of the Board of Management and is authorized to dismiss them for 

cause. The Supervisory Board advises the Board of Management with respect to the management of the Company 

and monitors the conduct of management. Under German corporate law, the Supervisory Board is not authorized 

to manage the Company. However, the by-laws for the Board of Management stipulate that the Board of Manage-

ment must obtain the prior approval of the Supervisory Board before carrying out certain transactions. 

The Supervisory Board discusses the quarterly and semiannual reports and approves the annual financial state-

ments of POLIS Immobilien AG and of the Group taking into account the reports prepared by the auditor. It moni-

tors compliance of the Company with the legal provisions, official regulations and the corporate guidelines. 

Duties of care and loyalty

The members of the Board of Management and of the Supervisory Board are obliged to observe duties of care 

and loyalty in relation to the Company. In observing these duties, the members of these corporate bodies must 

observe a broad range of interests, in particular of the Company, its shareholders, its employees and its creditors. 

Furthermore, the Board of Management must also observe the rights of the shareholders to equal treatment and 

the equal provision of information. 

Directors‘ dealings

Under Section 15a WpHG (Wertpapierhandelsgesetz; German Securities Trading Act), the members of the Super

visory Board and of the Board of Management are legally obliged to disclose the purchase or sale of shares in  

POLIS or any financial instruments that are related to said shares whenever the value of the transactions car-

ried out by the member or persons associated with such member within one calendar year reaches or exceeds  

€ 5,000.

To the Company’s knowledge, the shareholdings of the Board of Management and of the Supervisory Board are 

as follows: 

In accordance with a resolution adopted by the General Shareholders’ Meeting on 4 July 2008, a stock option plan 

was implemented for the members of the Board of Management and the management team. Within the scope of 

this program, options (subscription rights) for up to 130,000 no-par value shares may be granted. Each subscrip-

tion right confers the right to acquire one no-par value share. The members of the Supervisory Board do not hold 

any options conferring rights to acquire shares in the Company. Further details on the stock option plan of POLIS 

and on the outstanding subscription rights are contained in the chapter entitled »Share-based compensation« in 

the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Number of shares* 31 Dec. 2008 31 Dec. 2007 Change 

Dr. Alan Cadmus 32,500 32,500 0

Birgit Cadmus 16,500 16,500 0

Dr. Matthias von Bodecker 3,000 2,000 1,000

Jürgen von Wendorff 7,600 3,600 4,000

*Based on Submissions to the Company 
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Accounting and auditing

Since financial year 2005, the accounts of POLIS have been prepared on the basis of the International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS). As before, we agreed with the auditor – KPMG, Berlin – that the auditor is to inform 

the chairman of the Supervisory Board also in this reporting year immediately of any indications of bias or of 

grounds for disqualification that become apparent in the course of auditing if they are not resolved immediately. 

Moreover, the auditor is also to report immediately all findings or events arising in the course of the audit that are 

relevant to the tasks of the Supervisory Board. Also, the auditor shall inform the Supervisory Board if it discovers 

facts in the course of carrying out the audit that are irreconcilable with the declaration of conformity issued by 

the Board of Management and the Supervisory Board in accordance with Section 161 AktG, or include a note to 

that effect in the audit report.

Compensation report 
The report was prepared in accordance with the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code 

and contains information that pursuant to the requirements of the German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetz-

buch) and/or the International Financial Reporting Standards forms part of the Notes to the Consolidated Finan-

cial Statements or the Group Management Report. 

Compensation of the Board of Management

The following overview illustrates the compensation for each member of the Board of Management for 2008:

Current provisions

The compensation of the Company’s Board of Management and management team consists of a fixed component 

and a variable component that depends on performance (a so-called Tantieme). Under the contracts for services 

concluded with both members of the Board of Management on 20 December 2006, the following provisions 

apply:

Fixed compensation

Dr. Cadmus receives a gross fixed annual compensation of € 185 thousand, and Dr. von Bodecker receives € 130 

thousand. The Company provides each member of the Board of Management with a company car. The value of 

the remuneration in kind for Dr. Cadmus and Dr. von Bodecker amounted to € 8 thousand and € 7 thousand, 

respectively.

Variable compensation

In addition, each member of the Board of Management receives for their work an annual variable component in 

the amount of up to 50% of the agreed fix compensation, which is determined on the basis of the degree of suc-

cess in achieving corporate objectives and individual goals as specified by the Supervisory Board at the beginning 

of each financial year. If the requirements for such a claim are not met, the Supervisory Board may nevertheless in 

€ thousand
Fixed   

compensation
Variable  

compensation Total

Dr. Alan Cadmus 185 58 243

Dr. Matthias von Bodecker 130 40 170

Total 315 98 413



consideration of the Company’s annual results, other successes achieved by the Company, or the personal respon-

sibility of the specific member of the Board of Management for the Company’s annual results and other successes 

as well as the Company’s economic situation grant the members of the Board of Management a bonus of up to  

€ 30 thousand each, which it may determine at its discretion, exercising all due care and diligence. 

Compensation of the Supervisory Board

(1)	 Each member of the Supervisory Board receives a fixed annual remuneration in the amount of € 10,000 

per financial year. If a person has only been a member of the Supervisory Board for a part of the financial 

year, the compensation shall be determined on a pro rata basis. 

(2)	 In addition to the fixed compensation pursuant to subsection (1), the members of the Supervisory Board 

also receive compensation depending on dividends of up to 100% of the fixed compensation pursuant to 

subsection (1).

(3)	 The chairman of the Supervisory Board receives twice the amounts stated in subsections (1) and (2), and 

the deputy chairman receives one and a half times the amount stated in subsections (1) and (2).

(4)	 Each member of a committee of the Supervisory Board that has convened independently of a Supervisory 

Board meeting at least once in the financial year receives 10% of the compensation stated in subsections 

(1) and (2), and the chairman of a committee of the Supervisory Board that has convened independently of 

a Supervisory Board meeting at least once in the financial year receives 20% of the compensation stated 

in subsections (1) und (2).

(5)	 No member of the Supervisory Board may receive more than three times the compensation stated in 

subsections (1) and (2).

(6)	 The Company has obtained in its own name liability insurance covering economic loss for the benefit of 

the members of the Board of Management and the Supervisory Board in accordance with terms that are 

customary in the market. 

(7)	 Each member of the Supervisory Board is reimbursed for expenses incurred in the course of exercising his 

or her responsibilities. 

For financial year 2008, the members of the Supervisory Board received the following fixed compensation.

 

€ thousand

Carl-Matthias von der Recke (Chairman) 22

Hans Fehn (Deputy Chairman until 4 July 08) 8

Klaus R. Müller (Deputy Chairman since 4 July 08) 13

Arnoldus Brouns 10

Ralf Schmechel 10

Benn Stein (since 4 July 08) 5

Jürgen von Wendorff 10

Total 79*

* Due to rounding differences not identical to the sum of each value
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Mandatory takeover offer of Mann Immobilien-Verwaltung AG  
and report on takeover issues

Subscribed capital

The subscribed capital is divided into 11,051,000 ordinary shares with a nominal value of € 10.00 each. The op-

tion for issuing new shares within the context of the capital increase is discussed in the Notes to the Consolidated 

Financial Statements in section 3.9.

Shareholder structure

In August 2008, Mann Immobilien-Verwaltung AG increased its share in POLIS to more than 30% and was obliged 

as a result to submit a mandatory takeover offer to the remaining shareholders. By the time the acceptance period 

expired on 13 October 2008, the mandatory takeover offer had been accepted with respect to approximately 

20% of the shares. Since that time, the total stake of Mann Immobilien-Verwaltung AG in POLIS has been around 

53.2%. We welcome the increased commitment of Mann Immobilien-Verwaltung AG to our Company. The visible 

support by such a financially strong major shareholder encourages us in pursuing our strategy. Mann Group has 

consistently backed our strategy and fostered our growth since before our initial public offering by investing 

substantial amounts of capital in our Company.

Other major shareholders in POLIS are Bouwfonds Asset Management Deutschland GmbH (15.1%) and Con

trarian Capital (8.1%). The free float as defined by Deutsche Boerse currently represents approximately 31.7% of 

the shares in POLIS.

Dependency report
Since Mann Immobilien-Verwaltung AG holds 53.2% of the shares in POLIS, POLIS is a dependent company 

of Mann Immobilien-Verwaltung AG within the meaning of Section 17 subsections 1, 2 AktG. Accordingly, the 

Board of Management has prepared a report (Abhängigkeitsbericht) in accordance with Section 312 AktG on 

the relationships with associated companies for the period from 13 October to 31 December 2008. The Board of 

Management submitted a report stating that legal transactions or other actions subject to reporting requirements 

committed or omitted by the Company at the instigation of or in the interest of the controlling company, Mann 

Immobilien-Verwaltung AG, did not occur for the period from 13 October to 31 December 2008.

The auditor reviewed the dependency report and issued the following audit opinion:

»Having audited the report in accordance with our professional duties, we confirm that the factual details con-

tained in the report are accurate.«

Change of control

The service agreements with the members of the Board of Management of POLIS do not contain any special 

provisions in the event of a takeover of the Company. The appointment and dismissal of members of the Board of 

Management and any changes to the Articles of Association are governed by the statutory provisions contained 

in Sections 84, 85, 133 and 179 AktG.

Shareholder Share %

Mann Immobilien-Verwaltung AG, Karlsruhe 53.2

Bouwfonds Asset Management Deutschland GmbH, Berlin 15.1

Contrarian Capital Management L.L.C., Greenwich, CT, USA 8.1

Mann Immobilien-

Verwaltung AG raised its 

share in the company to 

approximately

53.2%



Supplementary report

No real estate transactions have been contractually agreed which would affect the balance sheet after the report-

ing date. 

The change in interest rates after the reporting date led to a further negative market valuation of the interest rate 

derivatives currently amounting to approximately € 2 million. 

Risk report

Control system for risks and opportunities
On the basis of the corporate strategy, we define the Company’s risk strategy in order to systematically detect 

risks at an early stage. We have presented the corporate objectives and strategy of POLIS in the annual report; 

these objectives have been prepared by the Board of Management in consultation with the Supervisory Board. 

They have been incorporated into the strategic plans and are appropriately monitored by our reporting system. 

We regularly compare the results actually achieved to the projected data within the scope of a target-performance 

comparison. Discrepancies trigger the development of options and the implementation of suitable measures. 

In designing and documenting the system for the early detection of risks, the focus is on risks only. Opportunities 

are monitored and observed by the Board of Management. Within the scope of the early detection system, there 

is no separate documentation of opportunities. 

We have implemented an appropriate risk management and control system so that developments that pose a 

risk to the continued existence of the company can be identified early on. For us, strategic corporate planning 

represents a core aspect of risk management. In preparing our strategic plans, we incorporate operational and 

financial risks in order to assess potential risks before they materialize. 

Our risk strategy has the following key aspects: 

We permanently observe the office property market in order to form our decisions regarding the selective acquisi-

tion and sale of individual properties for the purpose of improving the structure of the portfolio. As a part of our 

risk management, we focus on office properties with several tenants. This »multi-tenant strategy« reduces the 

risk of rent defaults and the risk of important leases expiring at the same time. We invest in high-quality buildings 

capable of third party uses situated in attractive locations that enhance the prospects for rapid follow-on leases. 

Our active portfolio management and the rapid and intensive marketing of vacant space further reduce the risk 

of vacancies. 

In the context of risks of non-payment, we have established a central monitoring function for the early detection 

of an unexpected loss of rental revenues. The system comprises a thorough examination of the credit rating of 

new tenants and the routine monitoring of the tenants’ financial standing, the continuous interaction with ten-

ants and a stringent reminder system in order to minimize rent default. The company’s default risk monitoring 

procedures gave no indications of any bad debts. 

Following a conservative financing strategy with an equity ratio of at least 40% reduces the effect of interest rate 

fluctuations. The objective is to routinely hedge at least 50% to 70% of the loans against interest rate risks by 

stipulating fixed interest rates or by employing derivative financial instruments.
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Presentation and quantification of individual risks

Financial risks

Within the scope of its business activities, POLIS is in particular exposed to interest rate and liquidity risks that 

are presented in general terms in the following paragraphs. Regarding the risk management of financial instru-

ments, we refer to the explanations in section 8.5 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Negative 

trends in the credit and capital markets may limit the financing options that are available to POLIS. Risks can also 

arise in the event of illiquidity in the banking system or on debt capital markets. Therefore, we also monitor the 

market conditions for loans and debt issuance as part of our liquidity planning. 

As a result of the global financial and econom-

ic crisis, domestic banks have become more 

restrictive with respect to extending loans. 

In financial year 2008, the debt market was 

only accessible to well capitalized companies 

and subject to increased risk premiums, if at 

all. Also in the current market environment, 

POLIS is well positioned due to its strategy 

of keeping its leverage at a permanently low 

level of at most 60%. With an equity ratio of 

around 50% and available loan facilities of  

€ 20,428 thousand, and in view of the loans of 

€ 7,484 thousand that are coming due in 2009,  

POLIS is in no danger of encountering financ-

ing shortfalls. The loans are subject to the 

typical covenants: Debt service coverage ratios of 110% and 120% and loan-to-value ratios of 65% and 70% 

at the level of individual properties, and 70% and 80% at the portfolio level. All covenants were observed as of  

31 December 2008. Also, the sanctions in the event the covenants are breached require that cash be deposited 

and do not include options for the immediate termination of loan agreements. For a detailed presentation of our 

debt positions (structure of maturities and fixed interest periods) we refer to sections 3.10 and 8.5 in the chapter 

entitled »Liabilities to banks« in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Possible investments of around € 15 million for modernizing the properties at »Konrad-Adenauer-Ufer«, »Dom- 

strasse« and the »Quartier Buechsenstrasse« are covered by the aforementioned loans and the cash flow from  

operating activities and do not entail the need for further financing. 

Given the current situation on the money and capital markets, we believe that the shareholder structure of POLIS 

with its financially strong institutional investors represents an additional stability factor. 

Business-related risks

Risks associated with the market for office buildings

The German market for office properties is influenced to a particular extent by the overall economic environment 

as well as the investment decisions of the market participants. Overall, the market for office buildings depends 

on numerous factors, some of which are interdependent, and therefore subject to fluctuations that are unpredict-

able. 

Anna Waibel, age 8 



For instance, factors that influence the market include

–	 macroeconomic factors, in particular overall economic growth, the level of interest rates and the expect

ations of companies regarding future economic trends, 

–	 the supply and demand for office properties in individual locations as well as factors specific to local  

markets, 

–	 the attractiveness of Germany as a business location compared to other countries and global markets, and

–	 the overall legal and tax framework. 

POLIS cannot influence the factors determining the market for office buildings. As a result of its focus on office 

buildings, POLIS cannot diversify risks via other segments within the property market. The effects of the financial 

and economic crisis on the market for office buildings and thus on POLIS’ results of operations, net assets and 

balance sheet in 2009 are difficult to ascertain. On the one hand, the demand for office space will decline due 

to the recession. The extent certainly depends on the severity and duration of the recession and currently cannot 

be determined accurately. Also, the demand for properties will tend to decrease due to the more difficult terms 

of financing and the uncertain market situation. On the other hand, properties are often favored by institutional 

investors in times of financial crisis compared to pure financial investments. We assume that the homogeneous 

and solid portfolio of POLIS is not exposed to serious valuation risks. 

Risks associated with letting

The properties held by the Company had an  

average vacancy rate of 19% based on the  

rental space as of 31 December 2008. Fur-

thermore, the lease agreements concluded by  

POLIS stipulate short average terms so that 

lease agreements are due for extension on a 

comparatively regular basis. In 2009, over  

17,000 m² will become vacant, most of which  

in buildings which will be refurbished (i.e.  

approx. 9,500 m² in »Buechsenstrasse«). The 

rental income of POLIS is generated in a wide 

number of different industries. The ten most 

important tenants generate approximately  

35% of rental income. For financial year 2009,  

we plan to conclude lease agreements con- 

cerning approximately 20,000 m². We have taken measures to achieve our ambitious letting objectives  

despite the difficult market environment. 

Risks associated with construction costs

POLIS invests in properties with different levels of modernization requirements. The strategy of actively manag-

ing the portfolio includes modernizations as well as – to a lesser extent – project developments. These may be 

associated with risks such as cost overruns, delays and defects in the construction work. A larger construction 

project is currently being carried out in the building at Konrad-Adenauer-Ufer, Cologne, and comprehensive revit

alization measures are planned in several properties. In order to identify and control risks early on in the course of 

planning and executing such projects, we commissioned an external project management organization last year 

to manage the construction projects. The project controlling system we use for managing the projects produces 

all relevant key indicators. For financial year 2009, we are planning to invest approximately € 15 million in three 

investment properties. 
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Risks associated with revaluations

The properties are disclosed in the consolidated balance sheet of POLIS at their fair value according to IAS 40. 

The determination of the fair value as of the respective valuation date is based on an appraisal of the properties 

held in the portfolio. For this purpose, the property values determined by Feri were used for the end of financial 

year 2008.

The valuation of properties is based on a large number of factors that also include subjective assessments by the 

expert and that are subject to change at any time. The valuation of properties is therefore associated with a wide 

range of uncertainties. An objectively correct valuation of properties is not possible. The valuation of one or more 

properties may exceed the value that is actually achievable in the case of a sale. Also an erroneous assessment or 

changes in the factors underlying the appraisal may in future result in different values. 

Risks associated with IT systems

The reliability and security of the IT system might be insufficient to withstand major disruptions or failures, result-

ing in interruptions of business activities and thus higher costs. For the purpose of securing our IT-based business 

processes, we employ two external IT service providers.

The information technologies used are continuously checked, developed and adjusted. Continuous backups guard 

against loss of data. We therefore believe that the risk of problems in this regard is low.

Risks related to staff

With our asset management team, we are in a position to perform all property-related tasks. We use highly trained 

specialists in all areas in order to achieve our corporate objectives. Therefore, our commercial success depends 

crucially on the management team and our employees.

In order to retain employees in the company, we offer attractive, well-equipped workplaces and a performance-

based compensation as well as the prospect of further training and development. The interaction between em-

ployees and managers is characterized by trust and the awareness that we can only succeed in achieving the 

corporate objectives if we work together. This enables us to identify potential problems in their early stages before 

they can result in increased employee turnover.

Insurance policies

POLIS has procured adequate insurance coverage with respect to the risks of its business. The properties are 

insured against damages including loss of rent. The required liability insurance policies and the appropriate cov-

erage have been obtained. 

Risk assessment
The materialization of the risks described above can have negative effects on the business operations and profits 

of POLIS. The Board of Management of POLIS analyzes these risks continuously. The strategy of diversifying risks 

by investing in high-quality buildings that are capable of third party uses and are situated in attractive locations is 

monitored by portfolio management. The risk of loss of rent is reduced by controlling the tenant mix, monitoring 

the tenants’ financial standing, and by actively supporting the tenants. The degree to which the operational and 

strategic objectives are reached is continuously supervised by a comprehensive risk management system. The 

forecast period for major risks extends beyond financial year 2009. Due to its regular and up-to-date reporting 

system, the Board of Management can react at short notice and rapidly take measures in the case of deviations 

from the plan. 

It is the belief of the Board of Management that there are no risks discernible from past or future developments 

that would threaten the existence of POLIS. We are aware of the economic and financial risks associated with the 

financial crisis; however, we believe that the risks we have identified are manageable. Adequate precautions have 

been taken to guard against any risks that are discernible.



Report on anticipated developments

Development of the overall economy and the markets for office buildings
According to leading economists, the economic downturn in Germany will continue at least until the middle 

of 2009, with GDP contracting by around 2.7% in 2009 after growing by 1.3% in 2008. The weaker economic 

performance is expected to lead to a decline in employment levels. However, the chances are good that the inter

national measures taken for the purpose of stimulating the economy, the government bank rescue packages and 

the substantial reduction in key lending rates (down to between 0% and 0.25% in the US) will lead to a turn

around and that the German economy will again begin to grow by the end of 2009/early 2010. 

Given the above, our assumptions for 2009 and 2010 are as follows: 

–	 a period of economic weakness, but also an end of the recession,

–	 a reduced employment rate,

–	 price stability in the context of a strong euro, moderate commodity prices and an economic weakness  

of the major trading partners,

–	 falling short-term interest rates in the euro zone as a result of further relaxation of the ECB’s monetary 

policies,

–	 moderately increasing long-term interest rates in view of the expanding money supply and increased  

national debt,

–	 overall weak demand on the markets for rental space that will remain weak for some time to come. 

The recovery of the overall economic environment from 2010 onwards forms the basis for the expected positive 

development of the office property markets in Germany in subsequent years. We believe that the transaction 

volume and the rental space turnover achieved in the previous year will not be reached in 2009 due to more 

restrictive terms of credit, but that the rents for modern and well-equipped buildings will remain relatively stable. 

Investments in new buildings will remain at a low level due to the more restrictive attitude of banks in extending 

loans.

Furthermore, we believe that as a result of the portfolio transactions carried out in 2007 and 2008, and also 

of the portfolio transactions that were not concluded due to changed terms of financing, many properties will 

be sold individually or as parts of portfolios from the middle of 2009 onwards. If the financial crisis continues 

for a longer time, we believe larger sales are also possible as result of violations of loan convenants. Also, Ger-

man companies and owners will continue to sell properties not required for their operations, and institutional 

investors will sell properties that they hold directly. Given the above, we believe that we will have significantly 

improved opportunities from the middle of 2009 onwards to acquire at attractive prices office buildings that can 

be modernized. 

Major opportunities for the POLIS Group
POLIS is active in a promising market with qualified employees, considerable financial flexibility and a proven 

business model. The market environment and the Company’s strengths provide a promising perspective for in-

creasing the Company’s market value. 

Market-specific opportunities

The market for acquiring and managing office buildings in Germany provides significant growth opportunities 

for specialized property companies. The increasing importance of the service sector as a proportion of GDP will 

underpin sustainable increases in the demand for office buildings in the large cities and urban centers in Ger-

many. Moreover, the practice of using company-owned properties will decline in Germany, as it has in other 

developed economies. 60% of commercial properties in Germany are owned by their users. British companies 
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own only 40% of the properties they use. In the US, this ownership ratio is only 30%. Since too much capital of 

German companies is tied up in properties, we believe that in future there will be an increasing need for sale-and-

lease-back transactions and a continuation of the sale of properties that are not required for the business. 

The locations of POLIS – the most important German office market centers – are characterized by excellent infra

structure and dynamic economic activity. The preferred locations in the office and services sector are located in 

the city centers. This is where economic strength and purchasing power has been concentrated for generations. 

These locations will provide for more or less stable rental revenues in 2009 and 2010 even in a difficult economic 

environment in Germany. Tenants in these locations prefer office buildings with modern facilities such as those 

offered by POLIS. 

Regarding the supply side, the market constellation is favorable for us as well. For a large proportion of the central 

areas in which buildings were erected in the fifties, sixties and seventies, there is a substantial need for modern

ization. At the same time, the level of new 

construction activities that would compete 

with office modernization is currently low, and 

the cost situation gives modernized buildings 

a significant competitive advantage over new 

buildings.

If the rental market for office buildings should 

suffer over the next two years as a result of 

economic changes, POLIS has a good competi-

tive position due to its presence in a promising 

market segment. 

Company-specific opportunities

With our concept that focuses on office build-

ings in attractive locations in the most import

ant German business locations, we are in a position to take advantage of opportunities as they arise. We consider 

ourselves active portfolio managers and specialists for the modernization of office buildings and can address all 

key areas of the property management value chain with our in-house expertise. Our experienced asset manage-

ment team puts us in a position to identify attractive purchase opportunities ourselves and to tap the potential for 

added value through optimization and/or letting. 

We also believe that we have substantial opportunities as a result of our solid capital structure and financial 

strength. Our favorable equity capital base thus allows us to take up additional loans at attractive terms and 

conditions in order to take advantage of and finance investment opportunities very rapidly once we have exam

ined them carefully. Our shareholder structure provides the Company with additional stability and strategic op-

portunities.

Assessment of future business prospects
In financial year 2009, we will focus our activities on increasing the occupancy rate of our properties and 

modernizing promising properties in our portfolio. We intend to achieve an overall portfolio volume of around  

€ 300 million, which means that we will continue to examine opportunities for further acquisitions. Given the 

planned revitalization measures, rental income will remain stable when occupancy rates in the remaining portfo-

lio increase. For financial year 2010, we intend to further increase rental revenues to around € 18 million. After 

deducting expenses associated with modernization, maintenance and property management, we consider a fur-

ther proportionate increase in the net rental income as well as the funds from operations possible in 2009.

Olivia Hahn, age 5 



In 2009, we will more than double our investments in the modernization of high-quality properties in attrac-

tive locations. The appealing building at »Konrad-Adenauer-Ufer 41–45«, situated directly on the Rhine, will be 

extended by a full floor and a terraced top floor and will be fundamentally refurbished in accordance with sustain-

able design principles. And also the building at »Domstrasse 10« in Hamburg and a part of the »Quartier Buechsen-

strasse« in Stuttgart will be converted into modern, technically well equipped and economical office buildings.

However, in view of the current situation on the international and national capital and property markets, predict-

ing future valuation trends for our investment properties will necessarily be associated with a high degree of 

uncertainty, and would therefore not be helpful currently. Because the Group’s results crucially depend on the 

results of valuations, they cannot be reliably forecast at this time. 

Irrespective of these uncertainties, actual results can deviate substantially from our expectations of the probable 

development if one of the uncertainties mentioned in the risk report or additional uncertainties materialize or the 

assumptions underlying the statements turn out to be incorrect.

Berlin, February 2009

POLIS Immobilien AG 

The Board of Management

 

Dr. Alan Cadmus	 Dr. Matthias von Bodecker
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To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable reporting principles, the consolidated finan-
cial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the group, 
the group management report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and 
the position of the group, together with a description of the principal opportunities and risks associated with the 
expected development of the group.

Berlin, 12 February 2009

POLIS Immobilien AG 

The Board of Management

 

Dr. Alan Cadmus	 Dr. Matthias von Bodecker
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51Auditor’s report

We audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by 
POLIS Immobilien AG, Berlin, comprising the consolidated bal-
ance sheet, the consolidated income statement, the consolidated 
cash flow statement, the consolidated statement of changes in 
equity and the notes to the consolidated financial statements as 
well as the group management report for the financial year from 
1 January to 31 December 2008. The preparation of the consoli-
dated financial statements and the group management report in 
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as applicable in the EU and the applicable supplementary 
provisions under commercial law in accordance with Section 
315a Para. 1 HGB (Handelsgesetzbuch (German Commercial 
Code)) is the responsibility of the legal representatives of the 
Company. It is our responsibility to express an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements and the group management 
report on the basis of the audit that we conducted.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with Section 317 HGB and the generally accepted 
German standards for the audit of financial statements issued by 
the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer in Deutschland e.V. (IDW). 
These standards require that we plan and perform the audit in 
such a way that inaccuracies or misstatements materially affect-
ing the presentation of the assets, financial and earnings posi-
tion conveyed by the consolidated financial statements in ob-
servance of applicable reporting requirements and by the group 
management report are detected with reasonable assurance. 
Knowledge of the business activities and the economic and legal 
environment of the consolidated group as well as an assessment 
of potential misstatements are taken into account in determining 
the audit procedures. The effectiveness of the internal control 
system relating to the accounting functions and the evidence 
supporting the disclosures in the consolidated financial state-
ments and the group management report are examined within 
the scope of the audit primarily on the basis of random samples. 
The audit encompasses an evaluation of the annual financial 
statements of the companies included in the consolidated finan-
cial statements, of the definition of the basis of consolidation, of 
the accounting and consolidation principles applied and of the 
major estimates by the legal representatives as well as an as-
sessment of the overall presentation of the consolidated finan-
cial statements and the group management report. We believe 
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Our audit did not result in any qualifications.

Based on the findings of our audit, we are convinced that the 
consolidated financial statements comply with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as applicable in the EU 
and the applicable supplementary provisions under commercial 
law in accordance with Section 315a Para. 1 HGB and convey a 
view of the assets, financial, and earnings position of the con-
solidated group that corresponds to the actual situation in com-
pliance with these provisions. The group management report is 
in accord with the consolidated financial statements, conveys an 
overall accurate image of the status of the consolidated group 
and accurately portrays the opportunities and risks of future de-
velopments.

Berlin, 13 February 2009

KPMG AG 
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Quitmann	 Lommatzsch 
Wirtschaftsprüfer	 Wirtschaftsprüfer	

Auditor‘s Report



ASSETS

€ thousand Note 31 Dec. 2008 31 Dec. 2007

Non-current assets

Investment properties 3.1 275,060 246,248

Intangible assets 3.2 54 59

Property, plant and equipment 3.2 2,316 186

Financial assets 3.3 243 1,035

Deferred tax assets 3.4 711 891

Receivables and other financial assets 3.7 205 202

Total non-current assets 278,589 248,621

Current assets

Down payments for investment properties 3.1 0 35

Receivables and other financial assets 3.5 27,757 3,238

Current tax receivables 3.5 202 251

Cash in banks 3.6 2,056 1,821

Other assets 3.7 183 68

Non-current assets held for sale 3.8 2,610 17,990

Total current assets 32,808 23,403

Total assets 311,397 272,024

Consolidated Balance Sheet
As of 31 December 2008
according to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
POLIS Immobilien AG, Berlin
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EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

€ thousand Note 31 Dec. 2008 31 Dec. 2007

Equity

Subscribed capital 3.9 110,510 110,510

Capital reserves 3.9 26,732 26,730

Retained earnings 3.9 14,699 5,656

Consolidated net profit 1,144 9,043

Share in equity allocable to the equity holder  

of the parent 153,085 151,939

Minority interests 0 0

Total equity 153,085 151,939

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Liabilities to banks 3.10 135,275 21,619

Deferred tax liabilities 3.4 1,085 1,374

Total non-current liabilities 136,360 22,993

Current liabilities

Liabilites to banks 3.10 10,206 74,538

Payments received on account 3.10 3,423 1,982

Trade accounts payable 3.10 2,111 2,152

Income tax liabilities 3.10 155 34

Other financial liabilities 3.10 6,057 11,320

Liabilities in the content of the properties  

held for sale 3.8 0 7,066

Total current liabilities 21,952 97,092

Total equity and liabilities 311,397 272,024
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Consolidated Income Statement
for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2008				  
according to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
POLIS Immobilien AG, Berlin				  

€ thousand Note 2008 2007

Rental revenues 4.1 14,993 9,788

Renovation and maintenance expense 4.2 -1,130 -498

Property management expense 4.3 -1,127 -766

 -2,257 -1,264

Net rental income  12,736 8,524

Unrealised gains from the revaluation of investment properties  4,341 9,341

Unrealised losses from the revaluation of investment properties  -6,287 -569

Result from the revaluation of investment properties 4.4 -1,946 8,772

Income fom the sale of investment properties  35,422 0

Carrying amount of the investment properties sold  -32,974 0

Result from the sale of investment properties 4.5 2,448 0

Other income 4.6 1,020 193

Other expense 4.7 -559 -591

Administrative expense 4.8 -3,278 -3,552

Income before financing activity and taxes  10,421 13,346

Investment income 4.9 101 91

Financial income 4.10 429 634

Financial expenses 4.11 -9,794 -3,409

Result before taxes  1,157 10,662

Deferred taxes 4.12 109 -1,613

Income taxes 4.12 -122 -6

Consolidated net income  1,144 9,043

of which: 

Allocable to minority interests  0 0

Allocable to equity holder of the parent  1,144 9,043

€ 2008 2007

Earnings per share

undiluted 2.4.12 0.10 0.93

diluted 2.4.12 0.10 0.93
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2008				  
according to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
POLIS Immobilien AG, Berlin				  

€ thousand 2008 2007

Consolidated net income 1,144 9,043

Adjusted for:

Financial result 9,264 2,684

Income from revaluation of investment properties 1,946 -8,772

Result from the sale of investment properties -1,859 0

Result from the sale of properties held for sale -589 0

Result from the sale of financial assets -8 0

Deferred tax on IPO-expenses 0 213

Depreciation on intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 143 30

Losses from revaluation of non-current assets held for sale 30 497

Decrease of provisions 0 -104

Increase in trade receivables and other assets  

which cannot be allocated to the investment and financing activity -2,077 -1,838

Changes in the trade payables and other liabilities 

which cannot be allocated to the investment and financing activity 866 3,937

Payments for equity options 2 0

Net cash (used by) from operating activities 8,862 5,690

Payments for the acquisition of software, fixtures and equipment -91 -275

Proceeds from the sale of investment properties 15,972 0

Proceeds from the sale of investment properties and investments in modernization -61,066 -140,495

Proceeds from the sale of financial assets 800 0

Net cash (used by) from investment activities -44,385 -140,770

Contribution of owners (capital increase) 0 81,193

Payments of repayments of loans -18,086 -40,712

Proceeds from debt 60,344 98,080

Interest received 368 615

Interest paid -6,943 -3,241

Dividends received 75 91

Net cash (used by) from financing activities 35,758 136,026

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 235 946

Cash in banks at the beginnig of the period 1,821 875

Cash in banks at the end of the period 2,056 1,821

See section 7 in the notes for additional explanatory information on the cash flow statement.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2008				  
according to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
POLIS Immobilien AG, Berlin				  

€ thousand
Subscribed 

capital
Capital 

reserves
Retained 
earnings

Consolidated 
net income

Share in 
equity 

allocable to 
the equity 

holders of the 
parent

Minority 
interest Total equity

Balance as of 31 Dec. 2006 51,400 4,328 5,177 479 61,384 0 61,384

Expenses and income directly 

recognized in equity 0 -4,198 0 0 -4,198 0 -4,198

Consolidated net income 0 0 0 9,043 9,043 0 9,043

Total expenses and income 

recognized in equity 0 -4,198 0 9,043 4,845 0 4,845

Capital increase IPO 59,110 26,600 0 0 85,710 0 85,710

Withdrawal/addition 0 0 479 -479 0 0 0

Balance as of 31 Dec. 2007 110,510 26,730 5,656 9,043 151,939 0 151,939

Expense stock option plan 0 2 0 0 2 0 2

Expenses and income directly 

recognized in equity 0 2 0 0 2 0 2

Consolidated net income 0 0 0 1,144 1,144 0 1,144

Total expenses and income 

recognized in equity 0 2 0 1,144 1,146 0 1,146

Withdrawal/addition 0 0 9,043 -9,043 0 0 0

Balance as of 31 Dec. 2008 110,510 26,732 14,699 1,144 153,085 0 153,085

See section 3.9 in the notes for an explanation of the changes in equity.
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1.  General information

1.1.  Accounting policies

The consolidated financial statements of POLIS Immobilien AG 
(hereinafter referred to as »POLIS«) for the financial year 2008 
have been drawn up in accordance with the International Finan­
cial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as they are to be applied in the 
EU as well as their interpretation by the International Financial 
Reporting Interpretation Committee (IFRIC). 

See section 8.3 for IFRS standards already adopted as of 31 De­
cember 2008 but not yet applied by POLIS.

The consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2008 
and the group management report for 2008 are prepared in 
accordance with Section 315a (1) HGB (German Commercial 
Code), and published in the electronic version of the German 
Federal Official Gazette (Bundesanzeiger).

The conformity of the consolidated financial statements with 
IFRS is declared expressly and without reservation. The consoli­
dated financial statements give a true and fair view of the net 
assets, financial position and results of operations of the Group.

The income statement was classified applying the cost of sales 
method – in other respects, the recommendations of EPRA (Euro­
pean Public Real Estate Association) were applied in addition.

Assets and liabilities are broken down into non–current (times to 
maturity longer than one year) and current items. 

The consolidated financial statements were drawn up in euros. 
For improved clarity, amounts are generally shown in thousands 
of euros (€ ‘000).

Information on the objectives, methods and procedures of cap­
ital management, especially with respect to the capital structure, 
profit targets, the value strategy and risk management are com­
prehensively presented in the management report in the chap­
ters entitled »Business and economic environment« and »Risk 
report«. 

The Board of Management approved the consolidated financial 
statements on 12 February 2009 and forwarded them to the 
Supervisory Board. It is the Supervisory Board’s responsibility 
to review the consolidated financial statements and to declare 
whether it approves them. 

1.2.  Disclosures concerning business activities

POLIS Immobilien AG, a listed company founded in Berlin in 
1998, purchases office buildings for its own portfolio, which are 
then renovated and extended to the extent required. POLIS fo­
cuses exclusively on office buildings situated at the city centers in 

key German office locations and invests in properties that exhibit 
a concrete potential for value growth or a stable cash flow. POLIS 
has its own asset management team and manages its entire port­
folio of properties itself.

Notes to the Financial Statements pertaining  
to the Consolidated Financial Statements  
prepared in accordance with IFRS  
for POLIS Immobilien AG, Berlin  
as of 31 December 2008
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2.  Accounting, measurement and consolidation methods

2.1.  Consolidated companies

The consolidated financial statements include POLIS Immo­
bilien AG and all companies controlled by POLIS. Control as a 
possibility for determining the financial and business policies of 
the consolidated companies is ensured by holding a majority of 
the voting rights. In addition to POLIS Immobilien AG, the group 

of consolidated companies includes 39 fully consolidated com­
panies in Germany. 

As of 31 December 2008, the following subsidiaries were in­
cluded:

Subsidiary                                                                                        
Share in the  
capital in %

POLIS Grundbesitz Objekt Verwaltungs GmbH, Berlin 100

Haus Steinstrasse GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin 100

Buerohaus Berliner Allee GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin 100

Buerohaus Steinstrasse 27 GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin 100

POLIS Objekt Gutleutstrasse 26 GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin 100

POLIS Objekt Luisenstrasse 46 GmbH, Berlin 100

POLIS Objekt Potsdamer Strasse 58 GmbH, Berlin 94

POLIS Objekt Steinstrasse 20 GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin 100

POLIS Objekt Ludwig-Erhard-Strasse 14 GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin 100

POLIS Objekte Dusseldorf GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin 100

POLIS Objekt Landschaftstrasse GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin 100

POLIS Objekt Kasernenstrasse GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin 100

POLIS Objekt Torstrasse GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin 100

POLIS Objekt Tuebinger Strasse GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin 100

POLIS Objekt Kleppingstrasse GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin 100

POLIS Objekt Konrad-Adenauer-Ufer GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin 100

POLIS Objekt Ebertplatz GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin 100

POLIS Quartier Buechsenstrasse GmbH & Co. KG,  Berlin 100

POLIS Objekt Domstrasse GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin 100

POLIS Objekt Gustav-Heinemann-Ufer GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin 100

POLIS Objekte Duisburg Essen GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin 100

POLIS Objekte Mainz GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin 100

POLIS Objekte Mannheim Stuttgart GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin 100

POLIS Objekte Kassel Koeln GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin 100

POLIS Objekt Lessingstrasse 14 GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin 100

POLIS Objekt Immermannstrasse GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin 100

POLIS Objekt Neumarkt GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin 100

POLIS Objekt Weyerstrasse GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin 100

POLIS Objekt Bugenhagenstrasse GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin 100
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Subsidiary                                                                                        
Share in the  
capital in %

Companies founded in 2008 100

POLIS Objekt Rankestrasse GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin 100

POLIS Objekt HH Steinstrasse GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin 100

POLIS GmbH & Co. Dreiunddreissigste Objekt KG, Berlin 100

POLIS GmbH & Co. Vierunddreissigste Objekt KG, Berlin 100

POLIS GmbH & Co. Fünfunddreissigste Objekt KG, Berlin 100

POLIS GmbH & Co. Sechsunddreissigste Objekt KG, Berlin 100

POLIS GmbH & Co. Siebenunddreissigste Objekt KG, Berlin 100

POLIS GmbH & Co. Achtunddreissigste Objekt KG, Berlin 100

POLIS GmbH & Co. Neununddreissigste Objekt KG, Berlin 100

POLIS GmbH & Co. Vierzigste Objekt KG, Berlin 100

2.2.  Change in the consolidated group

Compared to 31 December 2007, the consolidated group of  
POLIS increased by ten companies. All of these companies were 

established in financial year 2008 by cash subscription.

2.3.  Consolidation principles

The annual financial statements of the individual subsidiaries 
are included in the consolidated financial statements using uni­
form accounting and measurement principles.

Subsidiaries are all companies in which the Group controls the 
financial and business policies directly or indirectly. Control is 
assumed when the percentage of voting rights exceeds 50%.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated as of the time at which con­
trol passes to the parent enterprise. They are deconsolidated 
when control ends.

Amalgamated companies were accounted for in compliance 
with the rules of IFRS 3. Accordingly, the capital consolidation 
is carried out using the purchase method by offsetting the costs 
of the investment against the newly measured net assets at the 

time of the purchase. Any remaining positive difference between 
the costs of acquisition and the Group’s interest in the equity 
measured at market value must be recognized as goodwill and 
tested for impairment annually. A negative difference must be 
recognized in the income statement.

In financial year 2008, no business combinations within the 
meaning of IFRS 3 occurred.

Inter-company receivables, liabilities, interim results, expenses 
and income are eliminated in consolidation. 

2.4.  Accounting and valuation policies

With the exception of investment properties and properties 
recorded as tangible assets, which are recognized at fair value, 
the consolidated financial statements have been drawn up in ac­
cordance with the historical cost principle. Also, derivatives are 
recorded at their fair value.

 

The financial instruments used by POLIS are classified by the 
IAS 39 measurement categories, cash in banks and financial 
instruments. 

The accounting and valuation principles shown below are un­
changed from the previous year and were applied uniformly by 
all Group companies.
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2.4.1.  Investment properties

Properties are classified as investment properties if they are 
held for generating rental revenues and/or for the purpose of ap­
preciation, and if the proportion of own use as a proportion of 
the rental area does not exceed 10%. POLIS acquires properties 
for its own portfolio and does not have specific intentions of sell­
ing them; however, opportunities that arise in the context of the 
moderate buy-and-sell strategy will be pursued. 

Investment properties are measured at the time of their acquisi­
tion at cost including ancillary costs. The subsequent valuation 
of the investment properties occurs at fair value, with gains or 
losses from the change of fair value being recognized in the in­
come statement. Fair value is the amount at which real property 
can be exchanged between expert business partners who are 
willing to enter into a contract and who are independent of one 
another. 

See section 3.1 for a more detailed explanation of the principles 
used for determining fair value.

2.4.2.  Intangible assets

Intangible assets with a limited operational lifetime are recog­
nized at acquisition cost or production cost and are amortized in 
a straight line over a period of between 3 and 5 years depending 
on their expected operational lifetime.

2.4.3.  Tangible assets

With the exception of properties recorded as tangible assets, 
tangible assets are measured at acquisition cost or production 
cost less scheduled straight-line depreciation and impairment. 
Properties recorded as tangible assets are regularly appraised 
and measured at their fair values. Fixtures and equipment are 
depreciated over a period of between three and 13 years. If 
tangible assets are sold or closed down, the acquisition costs or 
production costs and the appropriate accumulated depreciation 
of the fixed assets are written off; any resulting profits or losses 
are recognized in the income statement.

2.4.4.  Financial assets

Financial assets are recognized on the date on which the Com­
pany becomes a contracting party with respect to the financial 
instrument and thus becomes entitled or obligated to render 
performance or counter-performance. 

The disposal takes place either when the financial asset is trans­
ferred to a third party or the contractual rights to cash flows from 
the asset expire.

Financial assets are measured at fair value at the time they are 
first recognized. The subsequent measurement depends on the 
classification of the financial instruments in accordance with the 
measurement categories pursuant to IAS 39.

The classification is made in the categories »Measured at fair 
value and taken to income«, »Loans and receivables« and »Fi­
nancial assets available for sale«. 

The financial assets of POLIS are made up of the following bal­
ance sheet items:

a)	 Financial investments
	 Investments for which no listed price is available on an ac­

tive market and whose fair value cannot be reliably estimat­
ed are stated at cost and measured in the following years at 
amortized cost.  

b)	 Receivables and other financial assets
	 Receivables arise through the direct provision of cash, mer­

chandise or services to a debtor without the intention of 
immediate or short-term disposal. Receivables and other  
assets are initially measured at fair value and on subsequent 
reporting dates at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method.  

	 Derivative financial instruments
	 Derivative financial instruments are used to a limited degree 

to hedge interest rate risks. However, they do not meet the 
criteria of IAS 39 with regard to hedge accounting. Deriva­
tive financial instruments are reported and measured at fair 
value; changes in fair value are taken to income.

c)	 Cash in banks
	 Cash in banks is recorded at nominal value as of the report­

ing date.

2.4.5.  Non-current assets held for sale

A non-current asset (or a group of assets held for sale) is clas­
sified as »held for sale« if the associated carrying amount is 
largely realized by a sale transaction rather than by continued 
use. The consolidated financial statements separately disclose 
as properties held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 those non-
current assets that are to be sold by way of an asset deal if a sale 
is highly probable within the next twelve months. Where such  
assets represent investment properties, they are recorded at 
their fair value.

2.4.6.  Income taxes

The amount of actual income taxes still unpaid is shown as a 
liability. Overpayments of income taxes are reported as a receiv­
able.
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Deferred taxes are formed using the balance sheet-oriented li­
abilities method for all temporary differences between the car­
rying amounts of the consolidated balance sheet and the fair 
values for tax purposes. In addition, deferred taxes are reported 
for expected future tax reductions from losses carried forward. 
Deferred tax assets for temporary differences and for tax losses 
carried forward are formed in the amount of the anticipated tax 
relief of subsequent financial years if their use is probable. De­
ferred taxes are determined based on the tax rates that currently 
apply.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are reported as non-current 
assets or liabilities. They are netted if a legally enforceable claim 
for setoff exists in relation to the same tax authority.

2.4.7.  Financial liabilities

A financial liability is recognized if the Company is a contracting 
party subject to the terms of the financial liability. 

Financial liabilities are deleted from the accounts when the cor­
responding obligation has been discharged, i.e. when it has been 
paid or cancelled or it has expired.

Loans are measured when recognized for the first time at the 
fair value of the consideration received for the exchange of the 
obligations. The subsequent measurement is at amortized cost 
using the effective interest method. 

Financial liabilities are measured at the amount corresponding 
to the anticipated outflow of funds. Derivative financial instru­
ments having a negative market value are measured on each 
reporting date based on the first-time recognition, changes of 
the fair value being recognized as income.

2.4.8.  Impairment

An impairment of financial assets that are reported at amortized 
cost exists if the carrying amount exceeds the amount that could 
be obtained by using or selling the asset. If this is the case, the 
value of the assets is adjusted, and a corresponding expense is 
recognized. 

In the case of investments, the evaluation of recoverability is 
based on the expected, future distributions.

If doubts exist concerning the collectibility of receivables and 
other financial assets, they are reported at the lower realizable 
amount. Recognizable individual risks are reported as value ad­
justments. Impairments of trade receivables and other receiv­
ables are recorded in separate allowance accounts. In order to 
determine impairments, individual receivables are comprehen­
sively assessed and evaluated on the basis of credit ratings and 
analyses of historical defaults on receivables. A direct reduction 
in the carrying amounts or a cancellation of any previously re­
corded impairment provision is only implemented when a re­
ceivable has become irrecoverable.  

2.4.9.  Investment income, financial income and financial 
expenses

Planned distributions are reported as investment income. The 
income is recognized at the time at which the Company obtains 
the right to receive the distribution.

Financial income includes interest income from cash in banks as 
well as income from changes in the fair value of financial instru­
ments.

The financial expenses include interest expenses for loans as 
well as expenses from the change of the fair value of financial 
instruments. 

Interest income and interest expenses are recognized based on 
the effective interest method.

2.4.10.  Expense and income realization

Income is recognized if it is probable that the economic benefit 
will accrue and if the income can be reliably quantified. 

Sales revenues or other operating income are recognized as 
soon as the service has been rendered. Rental revenues are real­
ized when the leased property has been handed over. Rental rev­
enues are distributed on a straight-line basis corresponding to 
the term of the lease agreements and thus recognize the income 
that is attributable to the rent-free periods.

When properties are sold, profit is realized as a matter of prin­
ciple at the time at which the title passes to the buyer under civil 
law. Profits are realized earlier if the essential risks and oppor­
tunities associated with the properties in question are trans­
ferred already prior to the time at which the legal requirements 
have been met, the seller no longer has any authority to dispose 
of the property, and the costs incurred in the context of the sale 
can be accurately quantified. 

Operating expenses are recognized when the service is used or 
at the time of its economic causation.

Interest is recognized as expense or income on an accrual basis 
using the effective interest method.

2.4.11.  Estimates

To a limited degree, assumptions and estimates must be made 
in the consolidated financial statements that impact the amount 
and reporting of assets and liabilities, income and expenses as 
well as contingent liabilities in the balance sheet. 
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In particular, assumptions regarding future events are essen­
tial in determining the fair values of the investment properties. 
Please see section 3.1 for information on individual factors in 
the context of property valuation. However, due to the nature 
of the industry significant uncertainties remain with respect to 
the valuation of the property portfolio that cannot be quantified 
accurately.

In addition, POLIS Immobilien AG’s eligibility regarding trade tax 
losses carried forward depends on the realization of profits from 
the sale of properties that are subject to trade tax by the Group’s 
parent enterprise.

2.4.12.  Earnings per share

Earnings per share are determined as follows:

2008 2007

Group net profit/loss for the year 

after income allocable to minority 

interests  

(in € thousand) 1,144 9,043

Average number of ordinary  

shares in circulation 11,051,000 9,721,520

Earnings per share  

(diluted and undiluted) 

(in €) 0.10 0.93

2.4.13.  Share-based payment transactions

The compensation of members of the Board of Management 
and the management team of POLIS also includes a share-based 
compensation involving the issuance of shares 

The options are measured at their fair value on the day they are 
granted. The fair value of the stock options is determined using 
financial valuation methods based on option price models. The 
calculation is carried out using Monte Carlo simulation methods. 
The fair value of the options is recognized in the income state­
ment as staff costs distributed over a vesting period of three 
years, resulting in a corresponding increase in equity. 

2.5.  Segment reporting

POLIS is exclusively active in one business segment – the acquisi­
tion, letting and disposal of office and commercial buildings – in 

one geographic segment (Germany). Therefore, no segment re­
porting is required.

3.  Notes to the balance sheet  

3.1.  Investment properties

The investment properties are measured at fair value. All invest­
ment properties of POLIS are held for the purpose of generating 
rental revenues and/or increasing their value; there is no own 
use. 

The fair values of the properties as of 31 December 2008 as well 
as for the reporting date for the previous year were determined 
on the basis of appraisals carried out by an independent expert.

The following table illustrates the changes in the investment 
properties in 2008:
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€ thousand 1 Jan. 2008
31 Dec. 

2008

Property Location Fair value
Additions 

acquisition

Additions 
moderniza-

tion Disposals Transfers

Change 
in market 

value Fair value

Luisenstrasse 46 Berlin 10,560 0 0 0 0 210 10,770

Potsdamer Strasse 58 Berlin 14,780 0 64 0 0 306 15,150

Rankestrasse 5-6 Berlin 0 17,044 617 0 -2,177 -584 14,900

Kleppingstrasse 20 Dortmund 5,330 0 23 0 0 -183 5,170

Berliner Allee 42 Dusseldorf 6,240 0 213 0 0 -403 6,050

Berliner Allee 44 Dusseldorf 8,620 0 0 0 0 -830 7,790

Berliner Allee 48 Dusseldorf 5,640 0 82 0 0 -392 5,330

Immermannstrasse 11 Dusseldorf 3,380 0 8 0 0 -328 3,060

Kasernenstrasse 1 Dusseldorf 12,130 0 0 0 0 -390 11,740

Steinstrasse 11 Dusseldorf 8,770 0 0 0 0 -310 8,460

Steinstrasse 20 Dusseldorf 15,430 0 2,194 17,624 0 0 0

Steinstrasse 27 Dusseldorf 8,620 0 0 0 0 -290 8,330

Gutleutstrasse 26 Frankfurt a.M. 10,940 0 374 0 0 -204 11,110

Bugenhagenstrasse 5 Hamburg 0 4,563 0 0 0 507 5,070

Ludwig-Erhard-Strasse 14 Hamburg 11,270 0 387 0 0 403 12,060

Domstrasse 10 Hamburg 13,790 0 114 0 0 -824 13,080

Steinstrasse 12-14 Hamburg 0 4,799 0 0 0 971 5,770

Landschaftstrasse 2 Hanover 3,200 0 825 0 0 45 4,070

Landschaftstrasse 8 Hanover 3,910 0 0 0 0 30 3,940

Koenigsplatz 57 Kassel 2,840 0 61 0 0 -51 2,850

Ebertplatz 1 Cologne 7,280 8 0 0 0 2 7,290

Gustav-Heinemann-Ufer 54 Cologne 13,990 0 488 0 0 -268 14,210

Hansaring 20 Cologne 3,980 0 127 0 0 -77 4,030

Konrad-Adenauer-Ufer 51-54 Cologne 6,970 0 3,328 0 0 -998 9,300

Neumarkt 49 Cologne 7,498 6 0 0 0 -134 7,370

Weyerstrasse 79-83 Cologne 0 14,668 129 0 0 323 15,120

Rheinstrasse 43-45 Mainz 2,460 4 55 0 0 131 2,650

Rheinstrasse 105-107 Mainz 4,310 0 0 0 0 90 4,400

Friedrichsring 46/Collinistrasse 2 Mannheim 2,690 7 199 0 0 64 2,960

Lessingstrasse 14 Munich 9,770 11 0 0 0 -21 9,760

Boeblinger Strasse 8/ 

Arminstrasse 15

Stuttgart 3,400 0 108 0 0 282 3,790 

Quartier Buechsenstrasse Stuttgart 29,280 8 36 0 0 406 29,730

Tuebinger Strasse 31 & 33 Stuttgart 9,170 9 0 0 0 571 9,750

246,248 41,127 9,432 17,624 -2,177 -1,946 275,060
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In addition to the acquisitions of »Rankestrasse 5–6« in Berlin, 
»Bugenhagenstrasse 5« and »Steinstrasse 12–14« in Hamburg as 
well as »Weyerstrasse 79–83« in Cologne, the additions mainly 
relate to investments regarding the extension and revitalization 

of »Steinstrasse 20« in Dusseldorf, the revitalization of »Land­
schaftstrasse 2« in Hanover and the modification and extension 
of »Konrad-Adenauer-Ufer 41–45« in Cologne. 



The investment property at »Steinstrasse 20« in Dusseldorf was 
sold for a price of € 20,450 thousand effective 31 December 
2008 within the scope of an asset deal; taking into account the 
assumed obligations of € 968 thousand (for construction costs 
and rent guarantees), the sales profit was € 1,859 thousand.

The transfers concern the use of space in the investment prop­
erty at »Rankestrasse 5–6« in Berlin for own purposes from  
1 September 2008. This property is now recognized as a tan­
gible asset. 

There are no restrictions as to the disposability of the invest­
ment properties. 

The following table shows the development of the investment 
properties in 2007: 

€ thousand 1 Jan. 2007
31 Dec. 

2007

Property Location Fair value
Additions 

acquisition

Additions 
moderniza-

tion Disposals Transfers

Change 
in market 

value Fair value

Luisenstrasse 46 Berlin 10,510 0 0 0 0 50 10,560

Potsdamer Strasse 58 Berlin 14,240 0 238 0 0 302 14,780

Kleppingstrasse 20 Dortmund 5,421 23 32 0 -60 -86 5,330

Berliner Allee 42 Dusseldorf 0 4,499 0 0 0 1,741 6,240

Berliner Allee 44 Dusseldorf 8,630 0 0 0 0 -10 8,620

Berliner Allee 48 Dusseldorf 5,360 19 0 0 0 261 5,640

Immermannstrasse 11 Dusseldorf 0 3,421 0 0 0 -41 3,380

Kasernenstrasse 1 Dusseldorf 11,254 7 0 0 0 869 12,130

Steinstrasse 11 Dusseldorf 8,540 0 0 0 0 230 8,770

Steinstrasse 20 Dusseldorf 10,880 0 4,503 0 0 47 15,430

Steinstrasse 27 Dusseldorf 8,610 0 0 0 0 10 8,620

Gutleutstrasse 26 Frankfurt a.M. 9,950 0 0 0 0 990 10,940 

Ludwig-Erhard-Strasse 14 Hamburg 11,160 0 110 0 0 0 11,270

Domstrasse 10 Hamburg 0 13,851 4 0 0 -65 13,790

Landschaftstrasse 2 Hanover 1,715 0 1,493 0 0 -8 3,200

Landschaftstrasse 8 Hanover 3,581 0 0 0 -2 331 3,910

Koenigsplatz 57 Kassel 0 2,454 0 0 0 386 2,840

Ebertplatz 1 Cologne 0 7,522 0 0 0 -242 7,280

Gustav-Heinemann-Ufer 54 Cologne 0 12,242 5 0 0 1,743 13,990

Hansaring 20 Cologne 0 3,500 0 0 0 480 3,980

Konrad-Adenauer-Ufer 51-54 Cologne 0 6,252 180 0 0 538 6,970

Neumarkt 49 Cologne 0 7,498 0 0 0 0 7,498

Rheinstrasse 43-45 Mainz 0 2,140 19 0 0 301 2,460

Rheinstrasse 105-107 Mainz 0 4,283 32 0 0 -5 4,310

Friedrichsring 46/Collinistrasse 2 Mannheim 0 2,397 8 0 0 285 2,690

Lessingstrasse 14 Munich 0 9,682 0 0 0 88 9,770

Boeblinger Strasse 8/ 

Arminstrasse 15

Stuttgart 0 3,289 0 0 0 111 3,400 

Portfolio Buechsenstrasse Stuttgart 0 29,392 0 0 0 -112 29,280

Tuebinger Strasse 31 & 33 Stuttgart 9,030 0 0 0 -15 155 9,170

Torstrasse 15 Stuttgart 0 14,927 0 0 -15,350 423 0

118,881 127,398 6,624 0 -15,427 8,772 246,248
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Additional amounts in the income statement directly attribut­
able to the investment properties are shown below:

€ thousand 2008 2007

Rental revenues from investment 

properties 14,475 9,763

Directly attributable property  

management costs that led to 

rental revenues

Renovation  

and maintenance 988 497

Property management 749 447

Total 1,737 944

Directly attributable property  

management costs that did not 

lead to rental revenues

Property management 228 309

Total 228 309

Furthermore, the consolidated profit and loss account also in­
cludes income and expenses attributable to »properties held for 
sale«.

Directly attributable property management costs that did not 
generate rental revenues relate to vacancy costs determined 
on the basis of the individual vacancy rates of the investment 
properties.

Information concerning property valuation  
as of 31 December 2008

POLIS commissioned Feri EuroRating Services AG (hereinafter 
referred to as »Feri«) to determine the market values of all build­
ings held by POLIS and to document its analysis in the form of 
rating reports and market value appraisals.

The concept of value used in this valuation is the market value as 
defined below in the International Valuation Standards:

»Market Value is the estimated amount for which a property 
should exchange on the date of valuation between a willing  
buyer and a willing seller in an arms-length transaction, after 
proper marketing, wherein the parties had each acted know­
ledgeably, prudently, and without compulsion.«

The basis for measuring market value is the investment income 
method according to International Valuation Standards. This 
was carried out as a dynamic cash value method using the dis­
counted cash flow method. No separate calculation of the value 
of land is made in the individual reports. No consideration was 
given to taxes and costs of capital of any kind. The calculation of 
the discounted cash flow method was performed using the Feri 
Immobilienobjekt Rating property valuation software package.

The Feri real estate valuation comprehensively takes into ac­
count all factors that influence the value of the property. Subjec­
tive value judgments are treated objectively to the degree pos­
sible by using quantitative analytical methods. All calculation 
methods are science-based and are disclosed.

Valuation methods and assumptions

Calculation of the market value

The market value of the property is determined using the dis­
counted cash flow method. The difference between rental rev­
enues and management costs is the net cash flow, which is 
determined for all periods of the remaining useful life of the 
property. The discount is based on the so-called break-even 
yield. The break-even yield represents the rate of return that an 
individual property must generate to achieve a yield that is ap­
propriate for the risk. It reflects all risks that are associated with 
the investment in an individual property.

Rental revenues initially contain the contractually agreed rents. 
The rental revenues from letting vacant areas and from follow-
on letting properties after the existing lease agreements have 
expired are forecast on the basis of the market rents that are 
expected for each property and then added to the above figure. 
The market rent that is expected for each property is derived 
from markups and markdowns on the general market rent based 
on the rating results for the desirability of the property.

The starting point for calculating the break-even yield is the 
base interest rate that takes into account the rate of return of 
a risk-free investment. In Feri’s real estate valuation system, the 
interest rate of the current yield for a ten-year government bond 
is used for this purpose. As of the valuation date, the long-term 
average value of this rate was 4.62%. The break-even yield is 
individually determined on the single property level.

A mark-up (risk premium) on the base interest rate takes into ac­
count the general market risk of a real estate investment. 

The property risk is a risk mark-up that takes into account all 
risks of the particular property. The key factors determining this 
risk factor are the following in equal measure: location-specific 
risk, property-specific risk, and tenant-specific risk.

The final weighted break-even yield for all properties is 7.07% 
(previous year: 7.10%).

The net cash flow components were disclosed in presenting 
the results of the market value calculation. The sum of the cash 
values of these net cash flows corresponds to the determined 
market value.
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Rating

The property valuation was based on the Feri Real Property Rat­
ing. It evaluates the desirability and the risk of a property and 
measures the factors required for determining the net cash flow 
and the discount factors.

Rating indicators for the desirability of a property are the macro 
position, the micro position and the quality of the property. As 
part of determining the risk profile of a property, the tenant- 
specific risk is determined by evaluating the tenant credit­
worthiness, the tenant concentration and the contract design. 

All criteria are evaluated using the Feri rating algorithm, which 
values the property on a point scale from 1 to 100. The points 
are then classified into ten valuation grades ranging from AAA 
(absolute best) to E- (very poor).

Observation period/periodization

A basic total useful life of 65 years starting in the year of con­
struction was assumed for all valuation properties as a general 
principle. Possible renovation measures or the overall structural 
condition of preservation as of the reporting date were analyzed 
and valued as refurbishments on a case-by-case basis, thus ex­
tending the property-specific remaining useful life.

Compensation

For appraising the entire portfolio, Feri receives an all-inclusive 
compensation that is independent of the market values it has 
determined.

3.2.  Intangible and tangible assets

This position comprises software, one office area used for own 
purposes as well as fixtures and equipment. The development of 
this position is shown in the following table:

The value of the properties and buildings as of 31 Decem­
ber 2008 was determined applying the same principles und  
methods as were used in the revaluation of the investment prop­
erties. If the properties and buildings recorded as tangible assets 
had been appraised using the historical cost model, their carry­
ing amount as of 31 December 2008 would have amounted to  
€ 2,169 thousand.

Depreciation and impairment losses for the year are included in 
the administrative expenses item as part of the income state­
ment.

Acquisition/ 
production cost

Revalu-
tion

Depreciation/amortization
Carrying  
amount

€ thousand
1 Jan.  
2008 Additions

31 Dec.  
2008

1 Jan.  
2008 Additions

31 Dec.  
2008

31 Dec.  
2007

31 Dec.  
2008

Software 64 10 74 - 5 15 20 59 54

Properties and buildings (own use) 0 2,177 2,177 -87 0 0 0 0 2,090

Fixtures and equipment 211 81 292 - 25 41 66 186 226

275 2,268 2,543 -87 30 56 86 245 2,370

Acquisition/ 
production cost

Depreciation/amortization
Carrying  
amount

€ thousand
1 Jan.  
2007 Additions

31 Dec.  
2007

1 Jan.  
2007 Additions

31 Dec.  
2007

31 Dec.  
2006

31 Dec.  
2007

Software 0 64 64 0 5 5 0 59

Fixtures and equipment 0 211 211 0 25 25 0 186

0 275 275 0 30 30 0 245
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3.3.  Financial assets 

The financial assets consist of a 5.1%-stake in Bouwfonds GmbH 
& Co. Objekt Stinnesplatz KG, Berlin, valued at € 243 thousand 
(previous year: € 243 thousand). The valuation was carried 
out at cost due to the lack of an active market and the fact that 
POLIS as minority shareholder does not have the information 

required for determining the fair value. A 5.15%-stake in ABN 
AMRO Immobilienfonds GmbH & Co. Ringbahnstrasse KG, Ber­
lin, with a carrying amount of € 792 thousand (previous year:  
€ 792 thousand) was sold effective 31 December 2008. The sale 
generated a profit of € 8 thousand. 
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Acquisition/ 
production cost

Depreciation/amortization
Carrying  
amount

€ thousand
1 Jan.  
2008 Disposals

31 Dec.  
2008

1 Jan.  
2008 Additions

31 Dec.  
2008

31 Dec.  
2007

31 Dec.  
2008

Investments 1,035 792 243 0 0 0 1,035 243

1,035 792 243 0 0 0 1,035 243

3.4.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities

The net deferred tax liabilities totaling € 374 thousand (previous 
year: € 483 thousand) due to temporary differences between 

the IFRS and the tax balance sheet and tax losses carried for­
ward as of 31 December 2008 and 2007 are as follows:

As of 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2007, deferred taxes 
were formed with respect to the corporate and trade tax losses 
carried forward of all taxable units in full because the tax losses 
carried forward based on the fair value of the investment prop­

erties can be realized in accordance with the business plan. Any 
changes in the deferred tax assets and tax liabilities are recog­
nized in the income statement.

Deferred tax credit

€ thousand 2008 2007

Tangible assets 427 521

Tax losses carried forward 1,385 1,542

Other financial liabilities 398 0

Balance of tax losses carried for-

ward and other financial liabilities -1,499 -1,172

Deferred tax claims 711 891

Deferred tax liabilities

€ thousand 2008 2007

Tangible assets 2,582 2,538

Balance of tax losses carried for-

ward and other financial liabilities -1,499 -1,172

Other assets 2 8

Deferred tax debts 1,085 1,374



€ thousand
Total 

2008
Non-current 

2008
Current 
2008

Trade receivables 4,221 0 4,221

of which allocable operating expenses 3,702 0 3,702

of which rent receivables 519 0 519

Sales tax credit 269 0 269

Other receivables 23,267 0 23,267

Total 27,757 0 27,757

€ thousand
Total 

2007
Non-current 

2007
Current 
2007

Trade receivables 2,442 0 2,442

of which allocable operating expenses 2,106 0 2,106

of which rent receivables 336 0 336

Sales tax credit 626 0 626

Other receivables 372 202 170

Total 3,440 202 3,238

3.5.  Receivables and other financial assets as well as current tax receivables

The receivables and other financial assets and tax receivables 
break down as follows:

Other receivables mainly include a purchase price claim totaling 
€ 20,450 thousand from the sale of the investment property at 
»Steinstrasse 20« in Dusseldorf. Also, other receivables include 
derivative financial instruments with a positive market value 
(see Section 3.10). 

As of 31 December 2008, receivables from operating costs not 
yet settled stood at € 3,702 thousand (previous year: € 2,106 
thousand), and advance payments for operating expenses 
amounted to € 3,423 thousand (previous year: € 1,982 thou­
sand). 

The carrying amounts correspond to the fair values due to their 
short remaining term. 

Regarding the claims for rent of € 597 thousand, specific value 
allowances totaling € 452 thousand (previous year: € 167 thou­
sand) were carried out in 2008 and in previous years. The fol­
lowing table presents the changes in the allowances on current 
trade receivables:

2008 2007

Status as of 1 January 167 117

Dissolution -6 -24

Additions 291 74

Status as of 31 December 452 167

The current tax receivables in 2008 and in the previous year 
concern creditable interest withholding taxes, the solidarity sur­
charge and income tax credits.
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3.6.  Cash in banks

The reported figures represent cash in banks and cash holdings. 
There are no restrictions on disposal.
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3.7.  Other assets

In addition to accruals relating to rent-free periods, other assets 
include expenses for an insurance policy that will be recognized 
as an expense in the following year. The accruals relating to rent-
free periods were calculated based on the terms of the lease 

agreements, taking into account the rents attributable to the 
rent-free periods in 2008 and previous years.

3.8.  Non-current assets held for sale

The property at »Torstrasse 15« in Stuttgart was sold in the con­
text of an asset deal for € 18,230 thousand under a notarized 
purchase and sale agreement dated 31 March 2008. Transfer of 
possession occurred on 1 May 2008. Obligations in the context 
of this sale are expected to amount to € 2,257 thousand (con­
struction costs and loss of rent). The sales profit after deducting 
these expenses is € 589 thousand. Due to weak demand on the 

market for property transactions it was not possible to sell the 
properties at »Viehoferstrasse 31« in Essen and »Gallenkamp­
strasse 20« in Duisburg by 31 December 2008 as originally 
planned. The intention to sell these properties in the short term 
remains unchanged. Preparations to this end have been carried 
out, and the expectations regarding the achievable income have 
been reviewed.

€ thousand 1 Jan. 2008
31 Dec. 

2008

Property Location Fair value Additions Disposals Impairment Fair value

Viehoferstrasse 31 Essen 1,070 0 0 -30 1,040

Gallenkampstrasse 20 Duisburg 1,570 0 0 0 1,570

Torstrasse 15 Stuttgart 15,350 0 15,350 0 0

17,990 0 15,350 -30 2,610

3.9.  Equity

The change in equity is apparent from the consolidated state­
ment of changes in equity. 

In financial year 2008, POLIS Immobilien AG carried out the 
following capital measures based on the resolution adopted by 
the General Shareholders’ Meeting on 4 July 2008:

Conditional capital 2008/I

The share capital was further increased by up to € 1,300,000 
by issuing up to 130,000 ordinary bearer shares in the context 
of a conditional capital increase. The sole purpose of the con­
ditional capital increase is to fulfill option rights of members of 
the Company’s Board of Management (up to 100,000 subscrip­
tion rights) and management team (up to 30,000 subscription 
rights) that the Company is granting on or before 31 December 
2012 in the context of a stock option plan in accordance with the 
authorization by the General Shareholders’ Meeting. 

The conditional capital increase will only be carried out insofar 
as the holders of the granted option rights exercise their op­
tion right and the Company does not fulfill the option rights by 
transferring own shares or by means of cash payments. The new 
shares shall participate in the profits as of the beginning of the 
financial year in which they were created as a result of exercis­
ing option rights.

Cancellation of the authorization of POLIS Immobilien AG to 
issue bonds with warrants and conditional capital 2007/1

The authorization granted by the Company’s General Sharehold­
ers’ Meeting on 23 January 2007 to issue bonds with warrants 
(Optionsschuldverschreibungen) and the conditional capital 
2007/1 (increase in the share capital by up to € 1,540,000 for 
the purpose of granting rights to shares to the bearers/bond­
holders) were cancelled, as was Section 4 (3) of the Company’s 
Articles of Association.

Authorization to acquire and dispose of own shares

The Company was authorized until 31 December 2009 to ac­
quire own shares representing a notional share in the share 
capital of up to € 11,051,000 in full or in part, and in one or more 
steps. The shares may be acquired via the stock exchange or in 
the context of a public buyback offer; when such acquisition has 
taken place, the Board of Management is obliged to inform the 
General Shareholders’ Meeting with respect to the reasons and 
the purpose.



Capital reserves

The capital reserves ( € 26,732 thousand, previous year: € 26,730 
thousand) include the premium from the issue of shares of  
POLIS less the expenses associated with the initial public offer­
ing, taking into account deferred taxes. 

Retained earnings

Setting off POLIS Immobilien AG’s net income under commercial 
law against the capital reserves in previous years has affected 
the retained earnings at the Group level. Furthermore, the ad­
justments taken to equity in connection with the first-time ap­
plication of IFRS (primarily: fair value measurement of the in­
vestment properties) are a component of the retained earnings.

The figures given for the previous year concerning liabilities to 

banks include liabilities of € 7,066 thousand in the context of 
non-current assets held for sale.

The liabilities to banks are secured by mortgages in the amount 
of € 179,744 thousand (previous year: € 100,066 thousand). 
Of the liabilities to banks, a total of € 120,141 thousand (previ­
ous year: € 75,040 thousand) are at variable interest rates and  
€ 25,053 thousand (previous year: € 28,183 thousand) are at 
fixed interest rates. The weighted average interest rate of all 
bank loans including derivative financial instruments was 4.1% 
as of 31 December 2008 (previous year: 5.2%). The weighted 
average remaining term of the bank loans is 4.8 years.

The fair values of the variable-rate liabilities correspond to 
their carrying amount. The fair values of the fixed rate liabili­
ties amount to € 25,813 thousand as of 31 December 2008  
(previous year: € 28,246 thousand). The fair values of the li­
abilities to banks are based on discounted cash flows that were 
determined on the basis of current market interest rates. The 
discount interest rates assumed were between 2.8% and 3.1% 
(including margin). 

The following table shows the significant details of the con­
tractual relations for the liabilities to banks:

3.10.  Liabilities

The following table shows the remaining maturities of the liabili­
ties (previous year’s figures in brackets):

Overview of liabilities Total Remaining maturities

€ thousand up to 1 year 1 to 5 years
more than  

5 years

Liabilities to banks 145,481 10,206 76,773 58,502 

 (103,223) (81,604) (21,619) (-)

     

Down payments received 3,423 3,423 - - 

 (1,982) (1,982) (-) (-)

     

Trade liabilities 2,111 2,111 - - 

 (2,152) (2,152) (-) (-)

     

Income tax liabilities 155 155 - - 

 (34) (34) (-) (-)

     

Other financial liabilities 6,057 6,057 - - 

 (11,320) (11,320) (-) (-)

157,227 21,952 76,773 58,502 

(118,711) (97,092) (21,619) (-)
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Time to maturity 
 
Year

Interest rate 
 

%

Initial 
 amortization 

%

Remainder 
of debt 

€ thousand

2009 5.60 1 6,071

2009 variable - 1,700

2010 5.98 1-2 10,819

2011 4.93-5.68 1.5-2 8,450

2011 variable 1 32,866

2013 variable 1 21,217

2015 variable 2 64,358

Total 145,481

Fixed rate loans will already be repaid during their term as stated 
so that the remaining term of the remaining debt specified is 
shorter than the term of the corresponding loan agreement.

Advance payments received include the advance payments for 
operating costs paid by tenants. The amount stated corresponds 
to the fair values.

The income tax liabilities concern corporate income tax and soli­
darity surcharge totaling € 155 thousand (previous year: € 34 
thousand). The carrying amounts correspond to the fair values.

Other liabilities include derivative financial instruments with a 
negative market value, among others. These are the interest rate 
caps, interest rate floors and interest rate swaps set forth below 
that were implemented in order to limit the interest rate risk as­
sociated with variable-rate loans. 

However, the interest rate caps, swaps and floors do not satisfy 
the requirements of IAS 39 with respect to hedge accounting 
and are consequently measured at fair value; changes in current 
values are recognized in income. In determining current values, 
market data are used.

Volume 
 

€ thsd.

Maturity Rate 
in %

Market value 
31 Dec. 2008 

€ thsd.

Interest rate swap  5,000 02.03.2009 3.66% 2

Interest rate swap  10,000 31.12.2010 3.82% -262

Interest rate swap  5,000 30.12.2011 4.00% -181

Interest rate swap  2,675 31.12.2011 3.12% -18

Interest rate swap  10,000 31.12.2012 4.33% -554

Interest rate swap  5,000 31.12.2012 3.93% -189

Interest rate swap  5,000 31.12.2012 4.15% -232

Interest rate swap  10,000 30.06.2015 4.80% -923

52,675 -2,357

Interest rate cap  4,000 02.03.2009 5.00% 0

Interest rate cap 5,000 28.06.2013 6.00% 8

9,000 8

Interest rate floor  5,000 28.06.2013 3.37% -162

66,675 -2,511

Furthermore, other financial liabilities mainly include obligations 
assumed (construction costs and loss of rent) in the context of 
the sale of the property at »Torstrasse 15« in Stuttgart (€ 2,258 
thousand) and at »Steinstrasse 20« in Dusseldorf (€ 968 thou­
sand). The carrying amounts correspond to the fair values.

3.11.  Leases

All lease agreements that POLIS has concluded with its tenants 
are classified as operating leases since all opportunities and risks 
associated with ownership remain with the Group. Accordingly, 
POLIS is the lessor in all leases (operating leases) of varying de­
sign concerning investment properties.

POLIS will receive the following secured lease payments (mini­
mum lease payments) under existing leases with third parties: 
(previous year’s figures in brackets)

The contractually secured lease payments include net rents until 
the agreed end of the contract or until the earliest possible ter­
mination date for the tenant (lessee).

Total Remaining maturities

€ thousand up to 1 year 1 to 5 years
more than  

5 years

Minimum lease payments 55,390 13,803 32,410 9,177

 (54,723) (13,077) (29,356) (12,290)



3.12.  Additional information concerning financial instruments

Additional information is provided below concerning balance 
sheet items that include financial instruments.

The following table shows the carrying amounts of financial  
assets and liabilities:

€ thousand 2008 2007

Financial assets

Financial assets available for sale 243 1,035

Cash in banks and cash holdings 2,056 1,821

Financial assets held for trading 10 52

Receivables 27,747 3,388

30,056 6,296

€ thousand 2008 2007

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortized cost 154,551 118,677

Financial liabilities from derivatives 2,521 0

157,072 118,677
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The net profits/losses from financial instruments are as follows:

Net losses of financial assets held for trading include valuation 
losses from the valuation of derivative financial instruments (in­
terest rate caps, swaps, floors) regarding which hedge account­

ing is not applied. Net losses from receivables contain changes in 
the value adjustments. 

€ thousand 2008 2007

Financial assets held for trading -2,564 10

Receivables -285 -50

Financial investments 8 0

-2,841 -40

4.  Notes to the income statement

This position only includes rental revenues from the investment 
properties and the properties disclosed as non-current assets 
held for sale. The rental revenues include deferred rental rev­

enues (€ -75 thousand; previous year: € -21 thousand) from the 
recognition of rent-free periods.

4.1.  Rental revenues
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4.2.  Renovation and maintenance expense

The figures represent the expenses incurred for renovating rental 
and common-use space as well as general expenses for main­
tenance and repair work on the properties.

€ thousand 2008 2007

Renovation and 

maintenance expenses

Maintenance expenses 431 222

Renovation expenses 700 276

1,130 498

4.3.  Property management expenses

This item includes non-allocable operating expenses, letting ex­
penses as well as direct management costs of the properties. 

4.4.  Result from the revaluation  

of investment properties

The table of changes in the properties in section 3.1 provides 
a detailed summary of the composition of this item (see also 
section 3.8).

4.5.  Income from the sale of investment properties and of 

properties held for sale

In 2008, total income of € 2,448 thousand (previous year: € 0 
thousand) was the result of the sale of the investment property 
at »Steinstrasse 20« in Dusseldorf (€ 1,859 thousand) and the 
property at »Torstrasse 15« (€ 589 thousand) in Stuttgart that is 
held for sale. No investment properties were sold in 2007. Add­
itional information is given in sections 3.1 and 3.8.

4.6.  Other income

Other income for financial year 2008 mainly includes a com­
pensation payment for the decrease in value of the investment 
property at »Gustav-Heinemann-Ufer« in Cologne as the result of 
an infrastructure project of the public transport services as well 
as income from compensation payments of tenants for the pre­
mature termination of lease agreements. In the previous year, the 
other income position primarily included costs that were passed 
on.

€ thousand 2008 2007

Staff costs 1,662 999

Legal, consulting and auditing fees 587 516

Office and travel expenses 503 305

Stock exchange-related expenses, 

financial reports, general  

shareholders’ meeting 212 150

Marketing and advertising expenses 134 98

Supervisory Board expenses 111 89

Asset management fees 0 1,315

Other expenses 68 80

Total 3,278 3,552

In addition to the two members of the Board of Management, 21 
persons were employed in financial year 2008 (previous year: 
19), 5 in general administration, and 16 in asset and property 
management.

4.7.  Other expenses

The other expenses item includes value adjustments on claims 
for rent and due diligence expenses, among others.

4.8.  Administrative expense

The following table shows the breakdown of the administrative 
expense:

4.9.  Investment income

This position primarily concerns distributions in the previous 
year from the investments in ABN AMRO Immobilienfonds GmbH 
& Co. Ringbahnstrasse KG, Berlin, and Bouwfonds GmbH & Co. 
Objekt Stinnesplatz KG, Berlin. 

4.10.  Financial income

Financial income relates to interest income from the current rate 
of return of the current accounts of POLIS in the amount of € 429 
thousand (previous year: € 624 thousand) and income from 
hedging transactions from the measurement of the derivative fi­
nancial instruments at fair value in the amount of € 0 thousand 
(previous year: € 10 thousand).
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4.11.  Financial expenses

Financial expenses relate to the following positions:

€ thousand 2008 2007

Interest expenses 6,761 3,100

Ancillary financing costs 470 309

Expenses from revaluation  

of derivative financial instruments 2,564 0

Total 9,794 3,409

4.12.  Taxes  

Profit before income taxes amounted to € 1,157 thousand for fi­
nancial year 2008 and € 10,662 thousand for financial year 
2007.

The income tax expenses for financial years 2008 and 2007 
were as follows:

€ thousand 2008 2007

Expenses (-)/income (+)

Deferred taxes on losses  

carried forward -157 103

Deferred taxes from temporary 

differences 266 -1,716

Current taxes -122 -6

Total -13 -1,619

Deferred taxes are calculated based on the applicable tax rates 
in accordance with current laws. They are based on the legal 
regulations that apply or have been enacted as of the reporting 
date. Due to the extended trade tax reduction (erweiterte Ge­
werbesteuerkürzung), the income from properties owned by the 
property companies is not subject to trade tax. Trade tax that 
may arise (on the level of POLIS Immobilien AG) will therefore 
be recognized as a reconciliation item. The corporate income tax 
rate in Germany was 15% in 2008 (previous year: 25%), and the 
solidarity surcharge was 5.5% thereof. The resulting combined 

tax rate is 15.825% (previous year: 26.375%). The following 
calculation shows how the reported income taxes expenses are 
derived from the expected tax expenses.

€ thousand 2008 2007

Pre-tax result 1,157 10,662

Group tax rate 15.8 % 26.4 %

Expected expenses  

from income taxes -183 -2,812

Non-deductible operating expenses -8 -6

Trade tax 528 435

Effect of tax reduction 0 764

Corporate income tax – previous years -350 0

Taxes on income -13 -1,619

Tax rate 1.1% 15.2%

The reconciliation item entitled »Trade tax effects« now contains 
for the first time the amount of the trade tax losses carried for­
ward of POLIS Objekt Potsdamer Strasse 58 GmbH (€ 96 thou­
sand). 

The reconciliation item »Income tax for previous years« mainly 
relates to the reduction of tax losses carried forward as a result 
of a change of shareholders.

5.  Other financial liabilities

As of the reporting date, other financial obligations amount to 
€ 1,976 thousand (previous year: € 1,116 thousand) from order 
commitments in the context of construction contracts. 
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6.  Disclosures concerning relationships with related companies and parties

Affiliated persons are the members of the Supervisory Board, the 
Board of Management and close family members of such per­
sons. In addition, the group of related companies also includes 
the majority shareholder, Mann Immobilien-Verwaltung AG, 
Karlsruhe, together with its affiliated companies and the major 
shareholder, Bouwfonds Asset Management Deutschland GmbH, 
Berlin.

Please see section 8.1 and the explanations in the compensation 
report of the management report for information on the relations 
with members of the Board of Management and the Supervisory 
Board. No transactions were concluded with close family mem­
bers of the Supervisory Board and the Board of Management.

Under a lease agreement with Bouwfonds Asset Management 
Group, services were rendered worth € 129 thousand (previous 
year: € 94 thousand) in financial year 2008 that were settled at 
prevailing market conditions.

7.  Disclosures concerning the cash flow statement

The cash flow statement was drawn up using the indirect  
method, with net cash from operating activities determined 
through a correction of the net income by non-cash business 
events, change of specific balance sheet items and income and 
expenses in connection with the investing and financing activ­
ities.

The cash and cash equivalents used in the cash flow statement 
consist exclusively of the cash in banks and cash holdings dis­
closed in the balance sheet. 

8.  Other information

8.1.  Supervisory Board and Board of Management

The compensation report in Section III of the group management 
report summarizes the principles governing the compensation 
of the Board of Management of POLIS and details the level and 
structure of the compensation of the members of the Board of 
Management and the Supervisory Board. 

The members of the Board of Management during financial year 
2008 were:

Dr. Alan Cadmus, Speaker of the Board of Management, Berlin 

Dr. Matthias von Bodecker, Chief Financial Officer, Berlin

The overall compensation of the Board of Management in finan­
cial year 2008 amounted to € 413 thousand. 

The following persons were members of the Supervisory Board:

–	 Carl-Matthias von der Recke, consultant, residing in Frank­
furt/Main (chairperson of the Supervisory Board)

–	 Hans Fehn, member of the board of directors (retired) of the 
Church Pension Fund (KZVK), Darmstadt, residing in Karls­
ruhe (deputy chairman until 4 July 2008)

–	 Klaus R. Müller, member of the management team of Mann 
Immobilien-Verwaltung AG, Karlsruhe, residing in Germers­
heim (deputy chairperson as of 4 July 2008)

–	 Arnoldus Brouns, Director International Markets with Bouw­
fonds Asset Management, Hoevelaken, the Netherlands,  
residing in Maastricht, the Netherlands 

–	 Jürgen von Wendorff, member of the management board/ 
managing director of HANNOVER Finanz GmbH, Commerz 
Unternehmensbeteiligungs AG and HF Fonds VII GmbH, 
Hanover/Frankfurt, residing in Ingeln

Mr. Jürgen von Wendorff is also a member of the following 
supervisory boards:

–	 Advisory Board of Neumann und Esser Verwaltungs 
GmbH (Chairman)

–	 Supervisory Board of GBK Beteiligungen AG (Member)

–	 Advisory Board of BAG Lich GmbH (Member)

–	 Advisory Board of  Hego Partner Holding GmbH  
(Member)

–	 Advisory Board of  PARTE GmbH (Member)

–	 Ralf Schmechel, member of the management team of Mann 
Management GmbH, Karlsruhe, residing in Malsch

–	 Benn Stein, lawyer, tax law specialist and certified account­
ant, CT legal Stein und Partner, Hamburg, residing in Ham­
burg (since 4 July 2008)

According to Section 12 of the Articles of Association, the mem­
bers of the Supervisory Board are entitled to reimbursement of 
their expenses as well as appropriate compensation, the amount 
of which is decided by the General Shareholders’ Meeting.  
A resolution to that effect has been adopted. The overall com­
pensation of the Supervisory Board in financial year 2008 
amounted to € 79 thousand.

* Members of the Personnel Commitee of the Supervisory Board



The following IFRS standards that have already been adopted 
and approved by the EU but were not yet mandatory as of  
31 December 2008 were not applied.

The revised IFRS 2 mainly concern changes to the provisions 
concerning the terms under which stock options can be exer­
cised. Applying the revised standards is mandatory from 2009 
onwards. It is not expected that the amendment to IFRS 2 will 
have a significant impact on future consolidated financial state­
ments of POLIS.

The revised IFRS 3 »Business Combinations« modifies the def­
inition of business operations, the valuation of minority interests, 
the treatment of transaction costs and the adjustment of acqui­
sition costs in the case of business combinations. The revised 
IFRS 3 must be applied prospectively from 2010 onwards. 

IFRS 8 converts segment reporting from the so-called Risk and 
Reward Approach of IAS 14 to the Management Approach with 
regard to segment identification. Of critical importance is the 
information that is provided regularly to the so-called Chief 
Operating Decision Maker for decision-making purposes. At the 
same time, the valuation will be converted from the Financial 
Accounting Approach of IAS 14 to the Management Approach. 
Application of IFRS 8 is mandatory from 2009 onwards. It is 
not expected that IFRS 8 will have a significant impact on future 
consolidated financial statements of POLIS.

The revised IAS 1 »Presentation of Financial Statements« re­
quires the disclosure of total comprehensive income that in­
cludes all changes in equity with the exception of such changes 
that are the result of transactions with shareholders. The revised 
IAS 1 must be applied starting in 2009 and will affect the pres­
entation of the financial statement accordingly.

The revised IAS 23 »Borrowing Costs« removes the option of im­
mediately deducting as expenses borrowing costs that pertain 
to the acquisition or production of qualified assets. The revised 
IAS 23 is to be applied prospectively to assets that are produced 
beginning in 2009 or later.

The revised IAS 27 »Consolidated and Separate Financial State­
ments in accordance with IFRS« governs the presentation of the 
acquisition of minority interests and deconsolidations that in­
volve the continued ownership of minority interests. The revised 
IAS 27 must be applied prospectively from 2010 onwards.

The revised IAS 32 »Financial Instruments: Presentation« and 
IAS 1 »Presentation of Financial Statements« contain provisions 
for the presentation of so-called »puttable instruments«. The re­
vised IAS 32 and IAS 1 are to be applied starting in 2009; how­
ever, they are not expected to have an effect on the presentation 
of the financial statement of POLIS.

IFRIC 13 – »Customer Loyalty Programmes« concerns customer 
loyalty programs, in particular premiums and discounts granted 
in the context of such programs. IFRS 13 is to be applied from 
2009 onwards. IFRS 13 is not expected to have an impact on 
future consolidated financial statements of POLIS.

8.3.  IFRS standards already adopted and approved by the EU but not yet applied

In February 2008, the Board of Management and the Super­
visory Board of POLIS issued statements concerning the recom­
mendations expressed in the German Corporate Governance 
Code. In 2008, POLIS almost fully observed all recommenda­

tions of the German Corporate Governance Code. The current 
declaration of conformity of the Board of Management and the 
Supervisory Board has been published on the website of POLIS 
(www.polis.de). 

8.2.  Corporate governance

By resolution adopted by the General Shareholders’ Meeting on 
4 July 2008, the Board of Management of POLIS AG was author­
ized to implement a stock option plan for the members of the 
Board of Management and the management team subject to the 
approval of the Supervisory Board. Within the scope of this pro­
gram, options (subscription rights) for up to 130,000 no-par 
value shares are to be granted. Each subscription right confers 
the right to acquire one no-par value share.

The subscription rights depend on the development of two suc­
cess criteria, both of which are directly related to the perform­
ance of the Company’s shares:

a)	 Absolute success criterion
	 The subscription rights of the first tranche may only be exer­

cised if the quoted share price of POLIS AG exceeds a price 
of € 14.50 within the reference period of six weeks prior to 
the first day of the first exercise period. The relevant figure 
is the share’s highest weighted closing quotation on five 
consecutive days during the reference period. For each of 
the subsequent tranches, the share performance must in­
crease by 24%-points in total.

8.4.  Share-based compensation
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b)	 Relative success criterion
	 Also, subscription rights may only be exercised if the overall 

performance of POLIS Immobilien AG shares in percentage 
terms during the period between granting and exercising 
the subscription right exceeds the benchmark index, DAX­
subsector Real Estate Performance Index of Deutsche Börse 
Group, by more than five percentage points.

The stock options may be exercised up to the end of five years 
after the date on which they were granted and are subject to a 
lock-up period of three years. During the relevant period, the 
subscription rights may be exercised in part or in total during 
two defined periods of 20 trading days per financial year. The 
exercise periods commence on the sixth day of trading on the 
Frankfurt Stock Exchange after the publication date of POLIS Im­
mobilien AG’s annual report and the semi-annual report for the 
financial year. 

Options not exercised within five years of the date on which they 
were granted expire without compensation. Also, options not 
transferred at the time an employee leaves the Company also 
expire.

The weighted average of the contractual term of the options out­
standing as of 31 December 2008 are between four and seven 
months (previous year: 0).

The outstanding subscription rights are shown in the following 
table:

2008 2007

Number of 
stock options

Weighted  
average  

exercise price
Number of 

stock options

Weighted  
average  

exercise price

Outstanding at beginning of year - - - -

Granted during the year 26,000 € 14.50 - -

Outstanding at year end 26,000 € 14.50 - -

Issuable at year end - - - -

On 1 August 2008, 26,000 subscription rights were granted for 
financial year 2008. The market value at the time was € 17,810. 
No subscription rights were granted in 2007.

The fair market price (beizulegender Marktpreis) of the share 
options issued under the Company’s stock option plan was cal­
culated applying the binomial method. The effects of the devel­
opment of the success criteria were taken into account using 
Monte Carlo simulation techniques. The following basic assump­
tions were made in determining the value of the options:

2008 2007

Price per share € 9.20 -

Exercise price € 14.50 -

Expected volatility 38% -

Expected maturity 3 years -

Risk free rate of interest 4.3% -

Expected dividend rate 3%

The expected volatility of the share was determined based on 
the historic fluctuations of the Company’s share price as well as 
comparable companies. The expected term used by the model 
is based on the best possible estimates of the Board of Man­
agement assuming non-transferability, exercise restrictions, and 
behavior-related considerations.

Based on the fair market price stated above and the Company’s 
assessment regarding employee fluctuation, the expenses as­
sociated with granting subscription rights to employees on  
31 December 2008 amount to € 2,474 (previous year: € 0).  
Other share-based payment transactions did not take place.
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Due to its business activities, the Group is exposed to various 
financial risks. The chapter of the management report entitled 
»Risk report« contains a comprehensive discussion of POLIS’ 
risk management. Financial risks primarily include the letting 
risk, the interest rate risk, the default risk and the liquidity risk. 
The Board of Management of POLIS is responsible for risk man­
agement. It uses an extensive, software-supported planning 
model for the early identification of complex risk situations. The 
Supervisory Board advises and monitors the Board of Manage­
ment.

a)	 Interest rate risk

Risks of changes in interest rates arise through market-related 
fluctuations of interest rates. These have an impact on the level 
of interest expenses. As of 31 December 2008, the variable rate 
liabilities to banks of POLIS amounted to € 120,141 thousand, of 
which € 52,675 thousand was converted to fixed-rate loans by 
means of interest rate swaps, and a further € 9,000 thousand 
was secured by means of interest rate caps. The fixed-rate liabil­
ities to banks amounted to € 25,053 thousand. The proportion of 
unsecured, variable-rate liabilities to banks was thus 40%. This 
level is considered reasonable. POLIS uses a cash-flow-at-risk 
analysis to determine the effects of changes in the interest rates 
on profit and loss and on equity. In carrying out this analysis, the 
cash flow that results from a parallel shift of the interest rate 
curve by 100 basis points is calculated for a forecast period of 
four years. As of 31 December 2008, the risk from a theoretical 
increase in interest rates by 100 basis points amounted to € 585 
thousand per year (previous year: € 660 thousand). A decrease 
in interest rates would lead to corresponding positive effects on 
net income.

Changes in interest rates would also have an effect on the market 
value of the derivatives. A reduction of the interest rates by 100 
basis points would change the market value of the derivatives as 
shown in the balance sheet by approximately € 2 million. In view 
of the development of the Euribor after the reporting date, such 
a change is expected for the first quarter of 2009.

b)	 Default risk/credit risk

Default risks concern the claims for rent. Centralized monitoring 
of all existing receivables is used for early detection of default 
risks. The following table presents the maximum default risk by 
balance sheet item:

€ thousand 2008 2007

Financial assets

Investments 243 1,035

Receivables and other  

financial assets 27,757 3,440

28,000 4,475

POLIS has obtained a bank guarantee as security for the pur­
chase price claims of € 20,450 thousand included in the receiv­
ables relating to the sale of the investment property at »Stein­
strasse 20« in Dusseldorf. 

As of 31 December 2008, receivables from operating costs not 
yet settled stood at € 3,702 thousand (previous year: € 2,106 
thousand), and advance payments for operating expenses 
amounted to € 3,423 thousand (previous year: € 1,982 thou­
sand); receivables relating to operating costs that can be charged 
to tenants were neither impaired nor due. 

Also, POLIS has received comprehensive collateral in the form of 
rent deposits (cash deposits and guarantees). 

The following table gives an overview of the age of the rent re­
ceivables:

8.5.  Financial risk management goals and methods

of which: of which: not impaired, and past due in the following periods:

€ thousand
Carrying 
amount

neither 
impaired nor 

past due
more than  

90 days 61–90 days 31–60 days 0–30 days

31 Dec. 2008

Rent receivables 519 73 130 1 129 186

31 Dec. 2007

Rent receivables 336 169 5 9 68 85
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All claims for rent shown relate to commercial tenants. For the 
claims for rent that are due, POLIS has received collateral in the 
form of rent deposits (cash deposits and guarantees) amounting 
to € 1,482 thousand.

Regarding existing rent receivables that are neither impaired nor 
past due, there are no indications as of the reporting date that 
the debtors will not meet their payment obligations.

The following table presents an analysis of impaired assets:

€ thousand 2008 2007

Impaired assets

Carrying amount of receivables 

with individual allowances for 

doubtful accounts 597 167

Amount of individual allowances 

for doubtful accounts -452 -167

Net carrying amount  

(after value adjustments) 145 0

c)	 Liquidity risk

POLIS strives to gain and maintain access to a wide range of 
sources of finance in order to secure the Company’s liquidity. 
Since its successful initial public offering in March 2007, POLIS 
has been listed in the Prime Standard of the regulated market 
of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. The listing of the Company’s 
shares provides POLIS with access to a wide range of institution­
al and private investors and enhances the Company’s financial 
flexibility. In addition to the liquidity planning with a multi-year 

planning horizon, the Board of Management also uses compre­
hensive rolling monthly liquidity planning with a 12-month plan­
ning horizon for the early detection of the liquidity situation. 
Group-wide cash management is used to monitor the current 
liquidity situation. 

The following table presents all contractually agreed payments 
as of 31 December 2008 for amortization, interest and repay­
ments of financial liabilities reported in the balance sheet:

The loan commitments only concern loans that have not yet 
been drawn and that can initially be used until the end of 2009. 

As a result of selling the investment property at »Steinstrasse 
20« Dusseldorf, POLIS will receive liquid funds in 2009 amount­
ing to € 20,450 thousand. These can be used to cover the gross 
cash outflows in 2009 as shown in the above table.

Analysis of remaining terms

Total€ thousand 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 or later

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Liabilities to banks 173,125 16,401 17,998 46,176 4,662 87,888

Trade liabilities 2,111 2,111 0 0 0 0

Derivative financial instruments 2,521 2,521

Other liabilities 3,536 3,536 0 0 0 0

Loan commitments from banks -20,428 -20,428 0 0 0 0

Total 160,865 4,141 17,998 46,176 4,662 87,888
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Analysis of remaining terms

Total€ thousand 2008 2009 2010 2011  2012 or later

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Liabilities to banks 106,752 83,108 7,503 11,254 4,886 0

Trade liabilities 2,152 2,152 0 0 0 0

Other liabilities 11,320 11,320 0 0 0 0

Loan commitments from banks -71,910 -71,910 0 0 0 0

Total 48,314 24,670 7,503 11,254 4,886 0

Analysis of remaining terms as of 31 December 2007  

The fees incurred for the services provided by auditors KPMG in 
financial years 2008 and 2007 amounted to:

€ thousand 2008 2007

Audit fees 130 156

Fees for related services

–  Comfort letter 0 109

–  IFRS consulting 0 20

Total 130 285

8.6.  Fees and services of the auditor

Berlin, 12 February 2009

POLIS Immobilien AG 
The Board of Management

Dr. Alan Cadmus	 Dr. Matthias von Bodecker
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